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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of Directors (the “Directors”) of
Zhaobangji Properties Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased
to present the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Year”).

During the Year, the COVID-19 pandemic continued to impact the
global economy. As a result of geo-political conflicts, inflation increased
at a pace not seen in decades across many western countries. This
caused central banks to aggressively increase interest rates and brought
stagflation concerns to the global markets. Inflation in Mainland China
was relatively tame during the Year, so the People’s Bank of China
afforded to employ a dovish monetary policy that supported local
businesses. However, due to the peg of the Hong Kong Dollar and the
United States Dollar, the Hong Kong Monetary Authority is forced to
tighten, and we believe that the divergence of the two monetary policies
will continue to provide headwind for the economy in Hong Kong.

As a result of challenging market conditions, the Group has stayed
defensive and employed a low-leverage position. We will continue to

explore potential business opportunities to bring long term value for the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

Xu Chujia
Chairman

28 June 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BN A

BUSINESS REVIEW, MARKET PROSPECT AND
OUTLOOK

The Group is principally engaged in the trading of machinery and spare
parts, leasing of machinery and provision of related services, provision
of transportation services in Hong Kong, and provision of property
management services, leasing of machinery and property leasing and
subletting in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

During the Year, COVID-19 pandemic has continued impact to the
general economic environment in the PRC and Hong Kong. While
our business in machinery leasing is relatively defensive and recorded
growth in revenue during the Year, the Board remains vigilant in view of
the current market situation.

In terms of our property management, property leasing and subletting
business, the real estate market was particularly volatile during the Year
which impacted our operating margin. However, most of our business
is focused in Shenzhen and we believe that its long-term prospect is
still promising, in terms of demographics, its position in the Greater-Bay
Area, and it is the headquarter for a number of top global companies.

In light of the challenging market conditions, the Board will continue to
employ a low leverage position and will continue to explore potential
business opportunities to bring long term value to the Shareholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Our total revenue increased by approximately HK$31.9 million, or 13.3%,
from approximately HK$240.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2021
(the “Previous Year") to approximately HK$272.0 million for the Year.
Such increase was mainly attributable to increase in revenue of the
leasing and properties management business.

Leasing of construction machinery

Our Group’s revenue generated from leasing of construction
machinery recorded an increase by approximately HK$18.2 million,
or approximately 15.1%, from approximately HK$120.4 million for the
Previous Year to approximately HK$138.6 million for the Year. Such
increase was due to increase in business volume in both Hong Kong
and Shenzhen market.
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Trading of construction machinery

Our Group’s revenue generated from trading of construction machinery
recorded a decrease by approximately HK$2.5 million, or approximately
7.3%, from approximately HK$34.1 million for the Previous Year to
approximately HK$31.6 million for the Year. Such decrease was mainly
attributable to decreased trading demand in Hong Kong market.

Transportation services

Our Group’s revenue generated from transportation services decreased
by approximately HK$6.7 million, or approximately 51.9%, from
approximately HK$12.9 million for the Previous Year to approximately
HK$6.2 million for the Year. It is our Group’s strategy to reduce our
exposure to transportation business as we foresee a decline in market
demand in this sector.

Property management services

Our Group’s revenue generated from property management services
increased by approximately HK$24.9 million, or approximately
39.2%, from approximately HK$63.6 million for the Previous Year to
approximately HK$88.5 million for the Year. The increase was because
we increased the area under management in the Greater Bay Area
during the Year.

Property leasing and subletting services

Our Group’s revenue generated from property leasing and subletting
decreased by approximately HK$2.0 million, or approximately
21.9%, from approximately HK$9.0 million for the Previous Year to
approximately HK$7.0 million for the Year. Such decrease was mainly
attributable to the disposal of a subsidiary in the Previous Year, partly
offset by the inclusion of a new business in a group of own-branded
retail shops, providing recreational activities (e.g. amusement arcades,
cinema etc.) in shopping malls in Shenzhen.

Cost of Sales and Services

Our Group’s cost of sales and services increased by approximately
HK$37.3 million, or approximately 28.6%, from approximately HK$130.6
million for the Previous Year to approximately HK$167.9 million for the
Year. Cost of sales and services mainly comprised costs of machinery
and equipment and spare parts, staff costs and depreciation. The
increase in cost of sales and services was mainly due to increase in
business volume from leasing of construction machinery and properties
management segments, and higher depreciation recorded as a result
of our prudent approach to increase depreciation on traditional diesel
generators due to replacement and obsolete risk from the change in
environmental standard requirements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Our Group’s gross profit decreased by approximately HK$5.4 million,
or approximately 4.9%, from approximately HK$109.5 million for the
Previous Year to approximately HK$104.1 million for the Year, and
our gross profit margin decreased from approximately 45.6% for the
Previous Year to approximately 38.2% for the Year.

The decrease in gross profit margin was due to a more challenging
business environment in the PRC and Hong Kong due to adverse impact
from the COVID-19 pandemic and other reasons as listed above.

Other Gains and Losses

Our Group’s other gains and losses decreased by approximately
HK$35.4 million, from approximately HK$35.5 million gain for the
Previous Year to approximately HK$0.1 million gain for the Year. The
decrease was mainly due to the one-off nature of the gain realized from
disposal of subsidiary in the Previous Year and fair value loss on financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss for the Year.

Selling Expenses

Our Group’s selling expenses decreased by approximately HK$0.6
million, or approximately 13.4%, from approximately HK$4.8 million for
the Previous Year to approximately HK$4.1 million for the Year, mainly
due to decrease in staff cost in the selling department.

Administrative Expenses

Our Group’s administrative expenses increased by approximately
HK$4.4 million, or 13.4%, from approximately HK$32.8 million for
the Previous Year to approximately HK$37.2 million for the Year. The
increase is mainly attributable to the higher rental expenses from the
group of own-branded retail shops acquired during the Year.

Finance Income

Our Group’s finance income increased by approximately HK$0.9 million,
or approximately 38.1%, from approximately HK$2.4 million for the
Previous Year to approximately HK$3.4 million for the Year. The increase
is mainly generated from the interest income on receivables.

Finance Costs

Our Group’s finance costs decreased by approximately HK$0.5
million, or approximately 29.7%, from approximately HK$1.8 million for
the Previous Year to approximately HK$1.3 million for the Year. The
decrease in finance costs was mainly attributable to the decrease in
lease liabilities.
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Income Tax Expense and Effective Tax Rate

Our Group’s income tax expense increased by approximately HK$4.7
million, or approximately 26.0%, from approximately HK$18.0 million for
the Previous Year to approximately HK$22.7 million for the Year.

Our Group’s effective tax rate increased from approximately 17.0% for
the Previous Year to approximately 36.3% for the Year, mainly due to
the one-off gain realized in the Previous Year which was not taxable, and
certain non-deductible expenses incurred during the Year.

Net Profit and Net Profit Margin

Our Group’s net profit decreased by approximately HK$50.2 million,
or approximately 56.9%, from approximately HK$88.2 million for the
Previous Year to approximately HK$38.0 million for the Year.

Our Group’s net profit margin were approximately 14.0% for the Year
and 36.7% for the Previous Year, where the decrease was mainly due to
the reasons illustrated above.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES REVIEW

The Group financed its operations through a combination of cash flow
from operations, borrowings and lease liabilities. As at 31 March 2022,
the Group had cash and bank balance of approximately HK$44.8 million
(2021: approximately HK$133.8 million) which were mainly denominated
in HK$ and RMB, and had borrowings of approximately HK$32.7
million (2021: approximately HK$13.1 million) and lease liabilities of
approximately HK$7.7 million (2021: approximately HK$22.3 million)
respectively that were mainly in HK$ and RMB. For more details about
the Group’s borrowings, please refer to note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Treasury Policy

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policy and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position for the year ended 31 March 2022. To manage the liquidity
risk, the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure
that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and other
commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

Gearing ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total equity at the
end of the reporting period. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings
and total obligations under finance leases less cash and bank balances
and restricted cash. As at 31 March 2022, the gearing ratio was not
applicable as the Company was in a net cash position (2021: net cash
position).

As at 31 March 2022, our Group’s total current assets and current
liabilities were approximately HK$368.3 million (2021: approximately
HK$261.2 million) and approximately HK$76.5 million (2021:
approximately HK$90.1 million) respectively. Our Group’s current ratio
was approximately 4.81 times as at 31 March 2022 (2021: 2.90 times).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2022, our borrowings of HK$32.7 million (2021:
HK$13.1 million) and lease liabilities of HK$6.8 million (2021: HK$17.8
million) were secured by property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets with net carrying amount of approximately HK$42.2 million (2021
approximately HK$59.8 million).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2022, the total issued share capital of the Company was
approximately HK$12.4 million representing 6,195,000,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.002 each.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

The total capital expenditure incurred for the Year settled by cash was
approximately HK$25.0 million (2021: approximately HK$77.0 million)
which was mainly used in purchase of property, plant and equipment for
our leasing business and property decoration.

CURRENCY RISK

Certain transactions of the Group are denominated in currencies which
are different from the functional currencies of the Group’s principal
subsidiaries, namely, HK$ and RMB, and therefore the Group is
exposed to foreign exchange risk. Payments made by the Group for the
settlement of its purchases from suppliers are generally denominated in
HK$, JPY, USD, EUR and RMB. Payments received by the Group from
its customers are mainly denominated in HK$ and RMB.

The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However,
the Group will continue to monitor closely its exposure to currency
movement and take proactive measures.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities at the end of the
reporting period (31 March 2021: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Our capital commitments consist primarily of purchase of construction
machinery for leasing purpose. As at 31 March 2022, there were
approximately HK$6.8 million (31 March 2021: HK$15.0 million) capital
commitments of machinery and equipment contracted but not provided
for.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2022, our Group had 416 staff members (2021:
225). The total staff costs incurred by our Group for the Year were
approximately HK$44.2 million (2021: approximately HK$43.3 million).
The increase in staff costs was mainly due to higher headcount for the
Year.

Employees’ remuneration packages are determined with reference to
the market information and individual performance and will be reviewed
on a regular basis. The remuneration policy will be reviewed by the
Board from time to time. In addition to basic remuneration, the Group
also makes contributions to mandatory provident funds scheme in Hong
Kong and contribute an amount to certain retirement benefit schemes of
those employees in the PRC.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES, AND PLANS
FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL
ASSET

(i) As at 31 March 2022, the Group held approximately HK$54.7
million equity securities at fair value through profit or loss
(2021: approximately HK$15.1 million). Details of the significant

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Percentage asat relative to received

Number of of equity 31 March the Group’s Investment Unrealised during

Company Name shares held interests held 2022  total assets costs loss the Year

—E-CE

friEkE =A=1-H HA%E REEE
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(%) HK$'000 (%) HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TiExL THER TR TR

ZTE Gorporation 1,695,000 0.2 27,154 4.4 35,159 (8,005) 166
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Fairvalue  Percentage Dividend
Percentage asat relative to received
Number of of equity 31 March  the Group’s Investment Unrealised during
Company Name shares held interests held 2022  total assets costs loss the Year
—E-CF
fiskE =A=1+-8 (S L] REEE
NRER RBHE Bttt NVHE AEEAHEL RERE  ABRER B &,
(%) HK$'000 (%) HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THER THEL TR
Semiconductor Manufacturing
International Corporation
(“SMIC") 966,000  Lessthan0.1 16,557 2.7 24,993 (8,436) -
S ER SRR
ARAR([HEEK])
China Investment and Finance
Group Limited (‘CIFG") 7,960,000 24 3,821 06 3,992 (171) -
hERRESEARAA
([hERBE])
China New Economy Fund
Limited (‘CNEF") 34,560,000 27 7128 12 7,500 (372) -
PEAEERERRAA
([HEEE])
- - 54,660 8.9 71,644 (16,984) 166

(@) ZTE Corporation is a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 763) which
principally engages in provision of ICT products and
solutions that satisfy the needs of customers, integrating
design, development, production, sales and services with
a special focus on carriers’ networks, government and
corporate business and consumer business. According
to the published monthly return of the listed issuer, the
total outstanding H shares as at 31 March 2022 was

755,502,534 shares.
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(b) SMIC is a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 981) and is one of the
leading foundries in the world and is the front runner
in manufacturing capability, manufacturing scale, and
comprehensive service in the Mainland China. SMIC
provides semiconductor foundry and technology services
to global customers on 0.35 micron to 14 nanometer
process node technologies. According to the published
monthly return of the listed issuer, the total outstanding H
shares as at 31 March 2022 was 5,968,101,118 shares.

(c) CIFG is a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 1226) which principally engages
in investment holding and trading of securities. According
to the published monthly return of the listed issuer,
the total outstanding shares as at 31 March 2022 was
325,096,600.

(d) CNEF is a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 80) which principally
engages in global investment in both private and publicly
listed enterprises that have demonstrated the ability
to manufacture a product or deliver a service that is
supported by the economies of the Mainland China, Hong
Kong, Macau and Taiwan. According to the published
monthly return of the listed issuer, the total outstanding
shares as at 31 March 2022 was 1,296,322,330.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any significant
investments held during the Year.

Strategy for investments

Looking forward, the Group will continue to adopt a prudent
approach in selecting valuable investments to achieve capital
gains or dividend income in line with its corporate goals and
objective.

KBEBEZRERAA ¢« —T - —FFRF
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB RO

(i)

(i)

On 24 December 2021, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company (the “Purchaser”) and two vendors (the
“Vendors”) who are deemed connected persons of the
Company under the Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) entered into a sale and
purchase agreement, pursuant to which, the Purchaser agreed
to purchase (the “Acquisition”) and the Vendors agreed to sell
the entire equity interest in Shenzhen Bang Century Interactive
Network Company Limited* (R I T B L T B ML BR A
A]) (the “Bang Century”). The consideration for the Acquisition
was RMB3,000,000 and completion of the Acquisition (the
“Completion”) took place on 9 March 2022 in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the sale and purchase agreement
and Bang Century had become an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 24 December 2021 in
relation to, inter alia, the Acquisition.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any other
material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and
joint venture during the Year.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not have any future plans
for material investments or capital assets.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the financial performance of
the Group has been affected by the COVID-19 outbreak in the
early 2020. A series of precautionary and control measures have
been and continued to be implemented across Mainland China
and Hong Kong.

Following the spread of COVID-19 to other locations subsequent
to the reporting period, including but not limited to Asia,
management has also taken relevant actions to minimise the
unfavourable impact. The Group will pay close attention to the
development of the COVID-19 pandemic and evaluate its impact
on the financial position, cash flows and financial performance of
the Group.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

There were no purchase, redemption or sale by the Company or any of
its subsidiaries of the listed securities of the Company during the Year.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENSAEEERER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xu Chujia (5F # &), aged 51, is the brother-in-law of Ms. Zhan
Meiging, the non-executive Director of the Company. Mr. Xu Chujia has
around 16 years of business experience in real estate development and
management. Mr. Xu Chuijia has been a director of Shenzhen Zhaobangii
Group Limited* (RINJEHEEEHBR A A
which is a company engaged in property development and business
investments in the PRC since March 2006. Mr. Xu Chuijia is a director

) (“Shenzhen Zhaobangji”),

of Boardwin Resources Limited, which beneficially owns 3,804,096,000
shares of the Company.

Mr. Xu Chusheng (#F & B), aged 55, graduated from Beijing
Oriental College in July 2013 with a postgraduate degree in financial
management. He has over 20 years of experience in financial
management and in the field of construction machinery and equipment
leasing. He was a director of Shenzhen Zhaobangiji from 2006 to 2016
and has been a supervisor of Shenzhen Zhaobangji since 2016. As at
the date of this annual report, he owns 8% of the issued share capital
of Boardwin Resources Limited, and Boardwin Resources Limited
beneficially owns 3,804,096,000 shares of the Company, representing
approximately 61.41% of the issued share capital of the Company. Mr.
Xu Chusheng is the elder brother of Mr. Xu Chuijia, the executive Director
of the Company.

Mr. Wei Jinwen (£ $2 3X) ("Mr. Wei"), aged 47, obtained a bachelor
of arts degree in Chinese Language and Literature from the Shantou
University in 1995, and obtained his postgraduate degree in economic
management from the Graduate School of the Party School of the
Central Committee of C.P.C.* ({f £ & E R 7 £ Ft) in the PRC
in 2008. Prior to joining the Group, he held various positions in a few
municipal governments of the PRC from 1995 to 2017. Mr. Wei served
as the regional general manager of China Fortune Land Development
Co., Ltd. Beiing Management Consulting Branch* (2 B = 8 £ £ & »
AR A THL RETE %D 2 7)) from November 2017 to March 2019

KBEMEZRERAA ¢ —T - —FFRF
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENGHEEEREFE

Mr. Kwan Kin Man Keith (B8Z3X) (‘Mr. Kwan”), aged 33, has around
thirteen years of experience in the finance industry. Mr. Kwan has been
the chief financial officer of Well Link Financial Group since January
2021. He was a non-executive director of HNA Technology Investments
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 2086) from December 2019 to June 2021. He
was a vice president of a money lending company in Hong Kong from
March 2019 to January 2021. He was an executive director of the
Company from March 2018 to March 2019. Mr. Kwan was a director
of Well Link Securities Limited from October 2017 to March 2019. Mr.
Kwan was an associate director of an asset management company from
June 2014 to June 2016. Prior to that, Mr. Kwan joined KPMG in 2009
and worked as an assistant manager of KPMG Advisory (Hong Kong)
Limited from August 2011 to February 2014.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Zhan Meiqing (& &) (“Ms. Zhan”), aged 41, is the sister-in-
law of Mr. Xu Chujia. Ms. Zhan obtained her bachelor’s degree in law
from East China College of Political Science and Law* (R BUAZRT)
(currently known as East China University of Political Science and Law
(FE R BUA K 2)) in Shanghai, the PRC. She then obtained a master’s
degree in laws from the City University of Hong Kong in 2005 and a
master’s degree in laws in international legal studies from The American
University, Washington College of Law in 2006. Ms. Zhan has over 10
years of experience in the legal, finance and real estate industry in Hong
Kong and the PRC. Ms. Zhan is currently a United States attorney (New
York), a qualified PRC lawyer as well as a registered foreign lawyer in
Hong Kong.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Professor Lee Chack Fan, G.B.s,, s.B.S.,, J.P. (Z 1£%}) (“Professor
Lee”), aged 77, is a distinguished professor of geotechnical engineering
and a renowned leader in Hong Kong’s higher education sector.
Professor Lee holds a BEng (CivE) (first class honours) and a MSc (Eng)
from University of Hong Kong (HKU), and a PhD from the University
of Western Ontario, Canada. He has worked on hydropower, energy
and transportation projects in Canada and China for over 40 years,
including projects like the Three Gorges, Ertan, Lijiaxia and others
across China. He is the author of over 300 engineering publications
and some 20 literary books. From 1994 to his retirement in 2015, he
has served the University of Hong Kong as a Chair Professor, Pro-Vice-
Chancellor (Research), Pro-Vice-Chancellor (University Relations) and
Director of HKU SPACE. He is currently Emeritus Professor and Deputy
Chairman of the HKU Foundation. Professor Lee is an Academician
of the Chinese Academy of Engineering, a Fellow of the Canadian
Academy of Engineering, and a Fellow and former President of the Hong
Kong Academy of Engineering Science. He is a Fulbright Distinguished
Scholar and has received the Gold Medal of the Hong Kong Institution
of Engineers. He holds honorary degrees from the University of Western
Ontario, Plymouth University, Edinburgh Napier University, University of
Macau and the Open University of Hong Kong. He is very active in public
service and has served on numerous government committees. Professor
Lee was appointed a Justice of the Peace in 2003, and awarded a Silver
Bauhinia Star in 2005 and a Gold Bauhinia Star in 2013. Professor Lee
was an independent non-executive director of AID Life Science Holdings
Limited (currently known as 8088 Investment Holdings Limited), a
company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8088), from
30 June 2015 to 15 August 2017, and an independent non-executive
director of South Shore Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 577) from 17 January 2005
to 18 May 2021.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERSREEEREFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Hui Chin Tong Godfrey (FF/& Z) (“Mr. Hui”), aged 62, obtained
his bachelor’s degree in business administration from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong in December 1983 and a master’s degree in
business administration (investment and finance) from the University of
Hull in December 1994. Mr. Hui has extensive experience in business
consulting. He was a non-executive director of Gudou Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8308), a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange
from 29 September 2014 to 12 April 2019. Mr. Hui was an independent
non-executive director of Vinda International Holdings Limited (stock
code: 3331), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange from 19 June 2007 to 16 October 2015. Mr. Hui resigned as
an independent non-executive director of Vinda International Holdings
Limited with effect from 16 October 2015 and served as a consultant
to the board of directors of Vinda International Holdings Limited until
December 2017.

Mr. Wong Chun Man (£ & X) (“Mr. Wong”), aged 46, is a holder of a
Bachelor Degree of Business Administration at the Chinese University of
Hong Kong. Mr. Wong has more than 20 years’ experience in corporate
finance and he is a member of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and Chartered Financial Analyst of the CFA Institute. Mr.
Wong was an independent non-executive director of Guoan International
Limited (stock code:143) from 11 March 2016 to 1 June 2020, and has
been the non-executive director of Vico International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1621) since 1 April 2019, and an executive director of
Fullwealth International Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1034) since
14 January 2021, which are all listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Wong also has been a vice-chairman and non-executive
director of TOMO Holdings Limited (stock code: 6928) since 21 July
2021, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Ye Longfei (M3 Z) (“Mr. Ye”), aged 79, was born in Shanghai.
He graduated from the Shanghai Fudan University in physics in 1965
and graduated as a postgraduate from the same department in 1968.
Mr. Ye has been engaged in the electronics industry for 20 years
and has been the Director of Shanghai Electronic Instrument Industry
Bureau* (/B EFERXR T #/5) since 1985. In 1988, Mr. Ye served as
the Deputy Secretary-General of the Shanghai Municipal Government
and the Executive Deputy Director of the Shanghai Foreign Investment
Commission. In 1991, Mr. Ye came to Hong Kong to set up the
“Shanghai Desk”, a cooperative arrangement between the Shanghai
Municipal Government and Arthur Anderson & Co. (HK). Mr. Ye joined
the Kerry Group in 1995. Mr. Ye has joined the Shangri-La Asia Limited
(stock code: 0069) under the Kerry Group since 1997 and served as its
executive director from 16 December 1997 to 27 March 2007, and the
chairman of the board of directors from 2000 until 2003, when he was
appointed vice chairman of the board of directors. Mr. Ye has served as
a consultant in Kerry Group from 2007 until his retirement from the group
in 2018. Mr. Ye has been an independent non-executive director of Hua
Hong Semiconductor Limited (stock code: 1347) since 12 December
2014, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Note:

*

The English translation of the Chinese name is for illustration purpose only.
Should there be any inconsistencies, the Chinese name shall prevail.
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Corporate Governance Report

-I/J:\‘ IH‘- -‘FE(I:u

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of the
Company for the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintain high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to
enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company has
adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as our corporate governance practices.
The Company has complied with the applicable code provisions under
the CG Code for the Year. The key corporate governance principles and
practices of the Company are outlined in this report.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business and
performance. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility
for day-to-day management and operation of the Group to the senior
management of the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs, the Board has established four Board committees
including the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Investment Committee. The Board
has delegated to the Board committees responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference.

All Directors have carried out duties in good faith and in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the interests of the
Company and the Shareholders at all times.
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Board Composition
For the Year and up to latest practicable date prior to the printing of this
annual report, the Board comprised the following directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Xu Chuijia (Chairman)

Mr. Xu Chusheng (appointed with effect from 29 September 2021)
Mr. Wei Jinwen (appointed with effect from 29 September 2021)
Mr. Kwan Kin Man Keith (appointed with effect from 30 June 2022)
Mr. Wu Hanyu (resigned with effect from 29 September 2021)

Mr. Zhao Yiyong (resigned with effect from 29 September 2021)
Mr. Li Yan Sang (resigned with effect from 29 September 2021)
Mr. Cai Chun Fai (resigned with effect from 30 June 2022)

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Zhan Meiqging
Professor Lee Chack Fan, G.B8.s, S.B.S., J.P.

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Hui Chin Tong Godfrey
Mr. Wong Chun Man
Mr. Ye Longfei
Mr. Ma Fung Kwok, G.B.S,, S.B.S., J.P.
(resigned with effect from 29 September 2021)

The names and biographical details of each existing director are
disclosed on pages 15 to 19 of this annual report.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, save and except Ms. Zhan
Meiging is the sister-in-law of Mr. Xu Chujia, and Mr. Xu Chusheng, who
is the brother of Mr. Xu Chuijia, there was no other relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship) among
members of the Board.

During the Year, the Company has been in compliance with the
requirements under rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Company has also complied with rule 3.10A
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of independent non-
executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board.
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The Company believes that the diversity of the Board members will
be immensely beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s
performance. Therefore, the Company has adopted a Board diversity
policy to ensure that the Company will, when determining the composition
of the Board, consider the Board diversity in terms of, among other
things, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills and knowledge. The Board diversity policy sets out
the approach towards achieving diversity on the Board. Pursuant to the
Board diversity policy, all Board appointments will be based on merits,
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board.

As each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company
considers all of them to be independent parties.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve on
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee.

As regards the CG Code provision requiring directors to disclose the
number and nature of offices held in public companies or organizations
and other significant commitments as well as the identity and the
time involved to the issuer, the Directors have agreed to disclose their
commitments and any subsequent change to the Company in a timely
manner.

DIRECTORS' CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Each Director was provided with the necessary training and information
to ensure that he/she has proper understanding of the responsibilities
under the Listing Rules and the applicable law, rules and regulations.
The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development courses and seminars to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company will continue to arrange suitable
training and regular seminars to provide the Directors with updates on
the latest developments and changes in the Listing Rules and other
relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time to time.
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According to records provided by the Directors, a summary of trainings REESRENTE  EFHELAFEES

received by the Directors for the Year is as follows: HEFIE T -
Attended Seminar
or Briefing/
Note Read Material
HEMNE
REEHE
hg=a B R A Rt
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Xu Chujia AEREE v
Mr. Xu Chusheng TR A 4
Mr. Wei Jinwen B AE 4
Mr. Kwan Kin Man Keith of="g e 4
Mr. Cai Chun Fai BIRIESSE ™) v
Mr. Li Yan Sang AR AE @) v/
Mr. Wu Hanyu SIS ©) v/
Mr. Zhao Yiyong HWIEELE @) v
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Ms. Zhan Meiging EXRBZT v
Professor Lee Chack Fan, GBS, SB.S., J.P. FIESHIE - 6BS, SBS, JP. v/
Independent Non-executive Directors BYKHITES
Mr. Hui Chin Tong Godfrey FFRE LA v
Mr. Wong Chun Man FEXEAE 4
Mr. Ye Longfei HEEEL A v/
Mr. Ma Fung Kwok, G.B.S., SB.S., J.P. BFERLE  6BS, SBS, JP. @) v/
Notes: B 5E -
(1) The Director resigned with effect from 30 June 2022. (1) EBEERZ-ZT-_FAA=+HEBEET-
(2)  The Director resigned with effect from 29 September 2021. @ EERZTZ—FALAZ-tNBEEE-
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman
and the chief executive should be clearly established and set out in
writing. The Company had complied with code provision C.2.1 of the
CG Code for the Year and up to the date of this report.

Mr. Xu Chuijia is the Chairman of the Board and Mr. Xu Chusheng is the
Chief Executive Officer. The Chairman is responsible for the leadership
and governance for the Board while the Chief Executive Officer is
responsible for day-to-day management of the Group’s business.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has signed a service contract with the
Company for a term of one year commencing from their respective
date of appointment subject to termination as provided in the service
contract.

Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has signed an appointment letter with the Company for a term
of one year commencing from their respective date of appointment.

The appointments of executive Directors, non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors are subject to the provisions of
retirement and rotation of Directors under the articles of association
of the Company (the “Articles”) and the applicable Listing Rules. The
procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of
Directors are set out in the Articles.

In accordance with the article 16.18 of the Articles, at every annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to,
but not less than, one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any
Director appointed pursuant to article 16.2 or article 16.3 of the Articles
shall not be taken into account in determining which Directors are to
retire by rotation. A retiring Director shall retain office until the close of the
meeting at which he retires and shall be eligible for re-election thereat.
The Company at any annual general meeting at which any Directors
retire may fill the vacated office by electing a like number of persons to
be Directors.
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BOARD MEETINGS, GENERAL MEETINGS AND
ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS

The Company intends to hold Board meetings regularly, at least four
times a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices of not less
than fourteen days will be given for all regular Board meetings to provide
all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in the
agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and Board committee meetings, reasonable notice
is generally given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are
dispatched to the Directors or Board committee members at least
three days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time
to review the papers and are adequately prepared for the meetings.
When the Directors or Board committee members are unable to attend
a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and
given an opportunity to make their views known to the Chairman prior
to the meeting. Minutes of meetings are kept by the company secretary
with copies circulated to all Directors/Board committee members for
information and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered by the Board
and the Board committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors/Board committee members. Draft
minutes of each Board meeting and Board committee meeting are/will
be sent to the Directors/Board committee members for comments within
a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held. Minutes of
the Board meetings are open for inspection by Directors.

If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the
Board which the Board has determined to be material, such Director
shall abstain from voting on the relevant resolutions and he/she shall not
be counted as a quorum in the Board meeting discussing the matter
concerned.
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Set out below are details of the attendance record of each of the TXHINSEESHFEARBEERFEHME
Directors at the Board and committee meetings of the Company held THEEERZEEERNER TS -
during the Year:

Attendance/Number of Meetings Held
HiE/ BEERY

Regular Audit Nomination  Remuneration Annual
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Notes Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

Wi EHEFESE FRZEEEH RAZEEEE FHZREEd RREEAS

Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Xu Chujia TREREAE " N/A TR N/A T N/A T &R 1/1
Mr. Xu Chusheng SRBLE (1) 5/5 N/A RN N/A R N/A R EF 0/0
Mr. Wei Jinwen ERAE (1) 5/5 N/A T E A N/ATER NATER 0/0
Mr. Kwan Kin Man Keith BRXEE © 0/0 N/A T ER NATER NATER 0/0
Mr. Cai Chun Fai ZiRELE (9 6/6 N/A NEF N/A R iEF N/A R EF 1/1
Mr. Li Yan Sang FCERE @ 11 NATER NATER N/ATER 11
Mr. Wu Hanyu BEERE @) 1/1 N/A R N/A R N/A TNEF 01
Mr. Zhao Yiyong BRELE @) 1/1 N/A A N/A R N/A T EF 1/1
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ms. Zhan Meiging EXELT i N/A 7 A 1/1 3/3 1/1
Professor Lee Chack Fan, FEZHRE n N/A T N/A T3 R N/A T R 11
GBS, SBS, JP. GBS, SBS, JP.
Independent Non-executive BYFHTEZE
Directors
Mr. Hui Chin Tong Godfrey TERELE 7 444 N/A i B 33 11
Mr. Wong Chun Man FhREE i 4/4 11 N/A T E 1/1
Mr. Ye Longfel EEERLE 77 474 1/1 33 1/
Mr. Ma Fung Kwok SERESE o) 1/1 N/A TR N/A NEF N/A NEF 11
GBS, SBS, JP. GBS, SBS, JP.
Notes: B EE
(1) Appointed with effect from 29 September 2021 1) RZZEZ—FNAZThhBEBZAE
(2)  Appointed with effect from 30 June 2022 @ RZE-_—FXA=1+HRZE
(3)  Resigned with effect from 30 June 2022 B RZE-_—_FXA=t+HRHET
(4)  Resigned with effect from 29 September 2021 4 RZZEZ—FNAZTthBEHT
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GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company for the Year is scheduled to
be held on 22 August 2022.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. The Company has made enquiries to all
Directors regarding any non-compliance with the Model Code.

All the Directors confirmed that they have fully complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code during the Year.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD AND
MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for all major matters of the Company, including
approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and
budgets, internal control and risk management systems, financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters. Directors could have recourse to seek independent
professional advice in performing their duties at the Company’s expense.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to
be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered
into by the management.

BOARD COMMITTEE

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 23 January 2017, with
specific written terms of references in accordance with rule 3.22 of the
Listing Rules and paragraph D.3 of the CG Code. The Audit Committee
comprises three members, namely Mr. Wong Chun Man (Chairman), Mr.
Hui Chin Tong Godfrey and Mr. Ye Longfei, all of them are independent
non-executive Directors for the Year.
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The principal duties of the Audit Committee include but not limited to the
following:

1. to make recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor,
and any questions of resignation or dismissal of that auditor;

2. to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s policies
and procedures regarding internal controls (including financial,
operational and compliance controls), risk management system
and any statement by the Directors to be included in the annual
accounts prior to endorsement by the Board;

3.  to review the financial statements and to have familiarity with the
financial reporting principles and practices applied by the Group in
preparing its financial statements; and

4. toreview external auditor’s independence, objectivity, effectiveness
of the audit process and the scope of the external audit, including
the engagement letter. The Audit Committee should understand
the factors considered by the external auditor in determining
their audit scope. The external audit fees are to be negotiated by
management, and presented to the Audit Committee for review
and approval annually.

The Company has complied with rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules in that the
Audit Committee must comprise a minimum of three members and must
be chaired by an independent non-executive Director who possesses
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required in rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on
the websites of the Company.

A summary of work performed by the Audit Committee during the Year
is set out as follows:

° Reviewed with the senior management and finance in-charge and/
or the external auditors the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, the accuracy and fairness of the annual
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 and interim
financial report for the six months ended 30 September 2021
respectively;
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° Met with the external auditors and reviewed their work and findings
relating to the annual audit for the year ended 31 March 2021 and
the effectiveness of the audit process;

° Reviewed with management and finance-in-charge the
effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group;

° Approved the internal audit plan for the year ended 31 March 2022
and internal audit report for the year ended 31 March 2021;

° Reviewed the external auditors’ independence, approved the
engagement of external auditors and recommended to the Board
on the re-appointment of external auditors;

° Reviewed the financial reporting and compliance procedures and
the report from the management on the Company’s internal control
systems and processes; and

° Reviewed the requirements on the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide under the Listing Rules and the
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report
of the Listing Rules.

Corporate Governance Function

The Audit Committee has been appointed by the Board to perform the
corporate governance function. During the year ended 31 March 2022,
the Audit Committee (i) reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report; (i) reviewed
and monitored the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements; (i) developed and renewed the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and made
recommendations to the Board; and (iv) reviewed and monitored the
training and continuous professional development of the Directors and
senior management.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 23 January 2017, with
specific written terms of references in compliance with paragraph B.3 of
the CG Code. The Nomination Committee comprised of three members,
namely, including one non-executive Director namely Ms. Zhan Meiging,
and two independent non-executive Directors namely Mr. Ye Longfei
(Chairman) and Mr. Wong Chun Man for the Year.
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The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the following:

to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members of the
Board, and select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorship. In identifying
suitable candidates, the Nomination Committee shall consider
candidates on merit and against the objective criteria, with due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board;

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
reappointment of Directors, and succession planning for Directors,
in particular, the chairman and the chief executive;

to identify and nominate candidates to fill casual vacancies of
Directors for the Board’s approval; and

to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors, and review the independent non-executive Directors’
annual confirmations on their independence; and make disclosure
of its review results in the corporate governance report.

The Nomination Committee assesses the candidate or incumbent on

criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit time and

effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The recommendations

of the Nomination Committee will then be put to the Board for decision.

The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are

available on the website of the Company.

A summary of the work performed by the Nomination Committee during

the financial year ended 31 March 2022 is set out as follows:

30

Reviewed and discussed on the existing structure, size,
composition and diversity of the Board to ensure that it has
a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate for
the requirements for the business of the Group and that it is in
compliance with the requirements under the Listing Rules;
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° Assessed the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors;

° Recommended the re-appointment of retiring Directors at the
annual general meeting for the year ended 31 March 2021;

° Recommended the appointment of Mr. Wei Jinwen as an
executive Director;

° Recommended the appointment of Mr. Xu Chusheng as an
executive Director; and

° Recommended the appointment of Mr. Kwan Kin Man Keith as an
executive Director.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 23 January 2017,
with specific written terms of references with rule 3.26 of the Listing
Rules and paragraph E.1 of the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee
comprises three members, including two independent non-executive
Directors namely Mr. Hui Chin Tong Godfrey (Chairman) and Mr. Ye
Longfei and one non-executive Director namely Ms. Zhan Meiqging for
the Year.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include but not
limited to the following:

1. to formulate remuneration policy for approval by the Board,
which shall take into consideration factors such as salaries paid
by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibility,
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group, and individual
performance of the Directors, senior management, and the general
staff. Performance shall be measured against corporate goals and
objectives resolved by the Board from time to time; and implement
the remuneration policy laid down by the Board;
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2. to recommend to the Board the policy and structure for the
remuneration of Directors, chief executive and senior management
members, whilst ensuring no Director or any of his associates, or
any senior management members is involved in deciding his own
remuneration;

3. to determine the remuneration of executive Directors, chief
executive and senior management members, including benefits
in kind, pension right, compensation payment (including
compensation for loss of office or appointment etc). The chairman
and/or the chief executive of the Company shall be consulted
respectively about their proposals relating to the remuneration of
the chief executive of the Company and/or senior management
members, as the case may be;

4.  to review and approve the compensation arrangements
in connection with any loss or termination of their office or
appointment to executive Directors and senior management which
shall be consistent with contractual terms, and otherwise fair and
not excessive;

5. to review and approve the compensation arrangements in
connection with any dismissal or removal for misconduct to
Directors and senior management which shall be consistent with
contractual terms, and otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

6. to determine the criteria for assessing employee performance,
which should reflect the Company’s business objectives and
targets; and

7.  to consider the annual performance bonus for executive Directors,
senior management members, and the general staff, having regard
to their achievements against the performance criteria, and by
reference to market norms, and make recommendation to the
Board.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the website of the Company.
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A summary of the work performed by the Remuneration Committee
during the year ended 31 March 2022 is set out as follows:

° Reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of the Company;

° Reviewed and recommended to the Board on the remuneration
packages (including discretionary bonus) of Directors and senior
management of the Company for the Year; and

° Reviewed and recommended to the Board on the remuneration
packages regarding the appointment of the new Directors of the
Company.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management
Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report. The remuneration
of senior management for the Year are set out below:
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HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7 T & 3,000,000 7% 7T 2

HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000

Investment Committee

The Investment Committee was established on 15 May 2017 with
specific written terms of references. The Investment Committee
comprised two executive Directors, namely Mr. Xu Chujia (Chairman)
and Mr. Xu Chusheng.

The principal duties of the Investment Committee include but not limited
to the following:

1. to provide advice to the Board on investment of the Company, if
required;

2. to advise on investment policies of the Company;
3. to identify, consult and engage such external professional adviser

as investment manager or adviser to the Company on investment
matters;

KBEBEZRERAA ¢« —T - —FFRF

3,000,001 & 7T % 3,500,000 7 7T

’

I]

REZES

BEEEEN-_T+HERATEARY -

LT RREEREGE AEERAEE

SHMBMTESER  DFEREE (XE)
B -

\

KREZEEMNIZREBFETRRY

1. BARANKRERE=ZSREEE (N

ARE) |

2. BARAHREBREHRE

3. We HHLZERBINEEXERE
RERNBMREEHEHRE LB NEER

33



Corporate Governance Report
TEERRS

4. to make investment decisions for and on behalf of the Company in
accordance with the investment policies adopted by the Company;
and

5. to consider such other topics and matters relating to the
investment of the Company as may be requested by the Board.

The written terms of reference of the Investment Committee are available
on the website of the Company.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopts a board diversity policy. The Company recognizes
and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance
the quality of its performance. Diversity of Board members can be
achieved through consideration of a number of factors, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural background and ethnicity, in addition
to educational background, professional qualifications, industry and
regional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All the
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against appropriate criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

DIRECTORS' AND AUDITORS RESPONSIBILITY IN
RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group. In preparing the financial statements which give a true and
fair view, it is fundamental that the appropriate accounting policies are
selected and applied consistently. The reporting responsibilities of the
Company’s external auditor on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group are set out in the independent auditor’s report on pages 60
to 65 of this annual report. The Directors were not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast significant
doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit services and non-audit services provided
by the Auditor to the Group during the Year amounted to HK$1.54
million and HK$0.05 million respectively.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for overseeing the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems and reviewing the
effectiveness of such systems through the Audit Committee on annual
basis. The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight
and corporate roles in the Group’s financial, operational, compliance,
risk management, internal controls, while senior management designs,
implements and monitors the risk management and internal control
systems, and provide reports to the Board and the Audit Committee
on the effectiveness of these systems. However, systems and internal
controls can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss, as they are designed to manage,
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the Group’s business
objectives.

Risk Management and Assessment

The Company has established formal risk assessment criteria for the
Group. Senior management identify risks that potentially impact the
key processes of their operations on an annual basis. Risks are scored
and ranked by their impact on the business and the likelihood of their
occurrence. Senior management assess the effectiveness of the existing
controls and formulate risk mitigating activities. Results of the annual risk
assessment are reported to the Audit Committee, including amongst
other things, significant risks of the Group and the appropriate control
activities to mitigate and/or transfer the identified risks.

Internal Control

The Company has established defined levels of responsibilities and
reporting procedures. Controls have been designed and established to
ensure that assets are safeguarded against improper use or disposal,
financial and accounting records are maintained in accordance with
relevant accounting standards and regulatory reporting requirements,
and key risks that may impact on the Group’s performance are identified
and assessed.

The Company has internal audit function which is primarily responsible
for developing various internal control manuals and procedures,
conducting reviews on the key operational processes and the related
internal controls to ensure compliance with the Group’s risk management
and internal control policies and procedures.
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During the Year, the Company has engaged an external consultant
to conduct a review over the Group’s internal controls over financial
reporting. Senior management has taken certain immediate remedial
actions accordingly and had refined certain internal control procedures
in due course. Issues identified were followed up for proper
implementation.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control Systems

The Audit Committee assists the Board in the review of the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems on
an ongoing basis. The Directors through the Audit Committees are
kept informed of significant risks that may impact on the Group’s
performance. For the Year, the Board considered the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group to be effective and adequate.
The Audit Committee has reviewed and is satisfied with the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Group’s accounting, and financial reporting function.

Procedures and Controls over Handling and Dissemination
of Inside Information

The Company is aware of its obligation under relevant sections of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) and the Listing Rules.
An Inside Information Policy has been established to lay down practical
guidelines on definition of inside information, compliance and reporting,
disclosure and announcement of inside information. All members of
the Board, senior management, head of departments, and staff who
are likely to possess inside information are strictly bound by this policy.
Staff who have access to inside information is required to keep the
unpublished inside information confidential until relevant announcement
is made. Failure to comply with such requirements may result in
disciplinary actions.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy with no fixed dividend payouts.
The actual dividend that the Board may recommend or declare in
respect of any particular financial year or period is subject to a number
of factors and at the discretion of the Board.
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The Board will take into account the following factors when considering
the payment of dividends:

(@ the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

(b) the level of retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company;

(c) the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity and
the relevant financial covenants;

(d) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group’s lenders;

(e) the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

® general economic conditions, and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Company; and

9 any other factors deemed relevant by the Board.

The payment of dividends is also subject to any restrictions under
Cayman Islands laws and the Articles.

The Board will review the dividend policy from time to time.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The role of the company secretary of the Company is performed by Mr.
Cai Chun Fai for the Year. Mr. Kwan Kin Man Keith has been appointed
as the company secretary of the Company with effect from 30 June
2022.

The company secretary is responsible for facilitating the Board’s
communications among Board members, the Shareholders and the
management of the Company and ensuring the Board policies and
procedures, as well as the applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed.

Mr. Cai Chun Fai has confirmed that he took not less than 15 hours of

relevant professional training during the Year in compliance with rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group’s business, performance and strategies. The
Company also recognises the importance of timely and nonselective
disclosure of information, which will enable the Shareholders and
investors to make the informed investment decisions.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders communication policy which aims at establishing a
two-way relationship and communication between the Company
and the Shareholders and maintains a website of the Company
at www.szzhaobangji.com, where up-to-date information on the
Company’s business operations and developments, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are available for
public access.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

We seriously take care the Shareholders’ interest to ensure that they
are treated fairly and are able to exercise their Shareholders’ rights
effectively. Shareholders are entitled by the Articles of the Company and
are also encouraged to participate in the Company’s general meetings.

Convening of extraordinary general meeting

In accordance with the Articles, any two or more Shareholders, or
any one Shareholder which is a recognised clearing house (or its
nominee(s)), holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less
than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right
of voting at general meetings shall have the right, by written requisition,
to require an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”) to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the
company secretary of the Company which is situated at Unit 13-15, 11/F,
China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road
Central, Hong Kong. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Directors
fail to proceed to convene such meeting to be held within a further 21
days, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same
manner, provided that any EGM so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Directors shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s)
by the Company.
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Procedures for putting forward proposals by Shareholders
at Shareholders' meeting

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company, a
Shareholder should lodge a written notice of the proposal (“‘Proposal”)
with his/her/its detailed contact information at the Company’s
headquarters and principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong at Unit 13-15, 11/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre,
168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong, with a copy of the
Proposal served to the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar at their
respective address.

The request will be verified with the Company’s Hong Kong share
registrar and upon their confirmation that the request is proper and in
order, the Board will be asked to include the Proposal in the agenda for
the general meeting.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the
Company to the Board could send their enquiries to the headquarters
of the Company at Unit 13-15, 11/F China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak
Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

During the Year, there were no significant changes in the constitutional
documents of the Company.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group
is principally engaged in trading of machinery and spare parts, leasing
of machinery and the provision of related services, the provision of
transportation services in Hong Kong, and the provision of property
management services, leasing of machinery and property leasing and
subletting in the PRC. Details of the principal activities of the principal
subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The review of the business of the Group during the Year and the
discussion on the Group’s future business development are set out in the
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis”, and the description of principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Group and key financial performance indicators are set out
in the section headed, “Management Discussion and Analysis”. The
financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are set
out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements. Important events
affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the Year are
set out in the section headed “Events after the Reporting Period” in this
report of the Directors. The contents of all the above mentioned sections
form parts of the business review as contained in this report of the
Directors. In addition, discussions on the Group’s relationships with key
stakeholders, environmental policies and performance and compliance
with relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the
Group are as follows:

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group’s success depends on the support from key stakeholders
which comprise employees, customers and suppliers.

Employees

The Group is committed to establish a close and caring relationship
with its employees. The Company provides a fair and safe workplace,
promotes diversity to our staff, provides competitive remuneration and
benefits and career development opportunities based on their merits and
performance. The Group also puts ongoing efforts to provide adequate
trainings and development resources to the employees so that they can
keep abreast of the latest development of the market and the industry
and, at the same time, improve their performance and self-fulfillment in
their positions.
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Customers and suppliers

Our major customers include some of the major main contractors in
Hong Kong, and meanwhile we directly source machinery from some
overseas manufacturers. Many of our five largest customers and
suppliers have established long term business relationship with us. We
believe that such long term relationships represent confidence and trust
from our business partners and acknowledgement of our ability.

The Group is able to build up close working relationship with our
business partners and bring together our customers and suppliers to
develop foundation technology. The Directors have frequent interactions
with our customers regarding their feedbacks on the quality of our
products which would then be reflected to our suppliers by us. Through
this solid communication channel together with our experienced
management team, the Directors believe that we are able to better
understand our customers’ needs as well as the market trend in order
to make appropriate modifications or improvements to our products. In
particular, we would reflect the market needs to our suppliers who would
then make modifications based on our idea originations. Leveraging
on our relationship, our major suppliers provide us technical and other
support such as training on the function, operation and maintenance of
their machinery. We believe our established relationship with suppliers
also enable us to acquire various types of machinery to fulfil our
customers needs in a timely manner and with favourable terms.

The Group also leases machinery from third party construction
companies for which we would then sub-lease to our customers which,
to the belief of the Directors, is of mutual benefit and would build up a
closer business relationship between us and our customers.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

We believe that our business also depends on our ability to meet our
customers’ requirements in respect of safety, quality and environmental
aspects. To meet our customers’ requirements on safety, quality
and environmental aspects, we have established and implemented
various quality control measures in our operation process. Through
the systematic and effective control of our operations, compliance with
safety, quality and environmental requirements can be further assured.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Directors confirmed that during the Year and up to the date of
this annual report, the Group had obtained all the registrations and
certifications required for its business and operations and had complied
with the applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Xu Chuijia (Chairrman)
Mr. Xu Chusheng

(appointed with effect from 29 September 2021)
Mr. Wei Jinwen

(appointed with effect from 29 September 2021)
Mr. Kwan Kin Man Keith

(appointed with effect from 30 June 2022)
Mr. Wu Hanyu

(resigned with effect from 29 September 2021)
Mr. Zhao Yiyong

(resigned with effect from 29 September 2021)
Mr. Li Yan Sang

(resigned with effect from 29 September 2021)
Mr. Cai Chun Fai

(resigned with effect from 30 June 2022)

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Zhan Meiging
Professor Lee Chack Fan, G.B.S, S.B.5., J.P.

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Hui Chin Tong Godfrey
Mr. Wong Chun Man
Mr. Ye Longfei
Mr. Ma Fung Kwok, G.B.S,, S.B.S., J.P.
(resigned with effect from 29 September 2021)

Information regarding directors’ emoluments are set out in note 15 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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The Directors’ biographical details are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this report.

In accordance with article 16.2 of the Articles, any director appointed by
the Board either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office only until the next following general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting.

Accordingly, Mr. Xu Chusheng, Mr. Wei Jinwen and Mr. Kwan Kin Man
Keith, who were appointed as a Director on 29 September 2021, 29
September 2021 and 30 June 2022, respectively, will retire from office
as Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
All the said Directors being eligible and will offer themselves for re-
election.

Pursuant to article 16.18 of the Articles, at every annual general meeting
of the Company one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to,
but not less than, one-third, shall retire from office by rotation, provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A
retiring Director shall retain office until the close of the meeting at which
he retires and shall be eligible for re-election thereat. The Company at
any annual general meeting at which any Directors retire may fill the
vacated office by electing a like number of persons to be Directors.

Accordingly, Professor Lee Chack Fan, G.B.S., $.B8.5., J.P., Mr. Hui Chin
Tong Godfrey and Mr. Wong Chun Man will retire from office as Directors
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. All the said
Directors being eligible and will offer themselves for re-election.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACT

Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
our Company which is initially for a fixed term of 1 year, commencing
from the date of appointment, and shall continue thereafter until
terminated by not less than one month written notice to the other party.
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Each of our non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with our Company
which is initially for a fixed term of 1 year, commencing from the date of
appointment. The appointment is subject to termination under certain
circumstances as stipulated in the said letter of appointment, and the
provisions of the Articles with regard to vacation of office of Directors,
removal and retirement by rotation of Directors.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service agreement which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted
to any of the Directors or their respective spouses or minor children,
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party
to any arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.

DIRECTORS' MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save for the continuing connected transactions as disclosed in the
section headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” of this report,
no Director nor an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance subsisting during or at the end of the Year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the connected transactions and the continuing connected
transactions as disclosed in the sections headed and “Related Party
Transactions and Connected Transactions” and “Continuing Connected
Transactions”, respectively, of this annual report, no contract of
significance between the Company (or any of its subsidiaries) and a
controlling shareholder of the Company (or any of its subsidiaries), or
contract of significance for the provision of services to the Company (or
any of its subsidiaries) by a controlling shareholder of the Company (or
any of its subsidiaries) subsisted during or at the end of the Year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision as defined in the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance was in force for an indemnity against a liability incurred by
Directors during the Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
below, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
existed during the Year.

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2022, the interests of the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company in the shares of the Company (the “Shares”)
or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) as recorded in the registered required to be kept under section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:
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Number of Percentage of
Name of director Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held shareholding ™"
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Mr. Xu Chuijia et Interest of spouse and interest of a 3,804,096,000 61.41%
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Notes: B 5E
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issued Shares as at 31 March 2022 of 6,195,000,000.

2. Mr. Xu Chujia owned 81.87% of the issued share capital of Boardwin
Resources Limited, which beneficially owned 3,804,096,000 Shares,
representing approximately 61.41% of the issued share capital of the
Company. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Xu Chuijia is deemed to be interested
in the Shares in which Boardwin Resources Limited were interested.
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Long position in the shares of Boardwin Resources
Limited, an associated corporation (ete )

A ¥8 B4 3% B Boardwin Resources
Limited B 19 5 B £ 72 (=0

Number of Percentage of
Name of director Capacity/Nature of interest shares held shareholding "°t?
EEsE B, Rt E BHERGEE g A== A
Mr. Xu Chuijia Beneficial owner 81.87 81.87%
AFREREE BB A
Mr. Xu Chusheng Beneficial owner 8 8%
Eiwialabivtas EnBAA
Ms. Zhan Meiging Beneficial owner 1 1%
EEBRL EnMAA

Notes: B 3

1. Boardwin Resources Limited beneficially owned 3,804,096,000 Shares,
representing approximately 61.41% of the total issued Shares as at 31
March 2022. As such, Boardwin Resources Limited was an associated
corporation of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

2. The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of the number of
issued shares of Boardwin Resources Limited as at 31 March 2022 of 100
shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company had any interest or short position
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2022, the interests of persons, other than Directors
or the chief executive of the Company, in the Shares as recorded in
the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO were as
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Number of Percentage of
Name of director Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held shareholding "
Exps 18 B ERME BERGEE RAER 7 L W=D
Boardwin Resources Limited Beneficial owner 3,804,096,000 61.41%
En#AA

Ms. Zhang Meijuan 2 Interest of spouse 3,804,096,000 61.41%
o 2E 4§ 22 o (#2) [T ey

Notes: B 5E -

1. The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of the number of 1. BablERRQ2TR-_T=__F=FH

issued Shares as at 31 March 2022 of 6,195,000,000.

2. Ms. Zhang Meijuan is the spouse of Mr. Xu Chujia, who owned 81.87%
of the issued share capital of Boardwin Resources Limited, which in turn
beneficially owned 3,804,096,000 Shares, representing approximately
61.41% of the issued share capital of the Company. By virtue of the SFO,
Ms. Zhang Meijuan was deemed to be interested in the Shares in which
Mr. Xu Chuijia was interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, no persons, other than
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company, had any interest
or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to the written resolutions passed on 23 January 2017.
From the date of the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up to
the end of the reporting period, no share option has been granted, or
agreed to be granted, under the Share Option Scheme.

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide participants
of the Share Option Scheme (the “Participants”) with the
opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company and to
encourage Participants to work towards enhancing the value of the
Company and its Shares for the benefit of the Company and its
Shareholders as a whole. The Share Option Scheme shall provide
the Company with a flexible means of either retaining, incentivising,
rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits
to Participants.

2. Participants of the Share Option Scheme and
the Basis of Determining the Eligibility of the
Participants
On and subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme and the
requirements of the Listing Rules, the Board may offer to grant
an option, to any Director(s) (including executive Directors, and
independent non-executive Directors) and full-time employee(s)
of any member of the Group and any advisers, consultants,
contractors, subcontractors, suppliers, agents, customers,
business partners, joint venture business partners, service
providers of any member of the Group who the Board considers,
in its absolute discretion and on such terms as it deems fit, grants
options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme to.
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Grant of options

On and subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme and
the requirements of the Listing Rules (in particular as to grant of
options to Directors, chief executives and substantial shareholders
of our Company or their respective associates), the Board shall be
entitled at any time within 10 years after the date of adoption of the
Share Option Scheme to make an offer for the grant of an option
to any Participant as the Board may in its absolute discretion
select. The offer shall specify the terms on which the option is
granted. Such terms may include any minimum periods for which
an option must be held and/or any minimum performance targets
that must be reached, before the options can be exercised in
whole or in part, and may include at the discretion of the Board
other terms imposed (or not imposed) either on a case by case
basis or generally.

Payment on acceptance of option offer

An offer shall remain open for acceptance by the Participant
concerned for a period of 14 days from the date of the offer.
HK$1.00 is payable by the Participant who accepts an offer of
the grant of an option in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme (the “Grantee”) to our Company on acceptance
of the offer of the option.

Subscription price

The subscription price shall be such price as the Board may
in its absolute discretion determine at the time of grant of the
relevant option but the subscription price shall not be less than
the highest of: (a) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant;
(b) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days
immediately preceding the date of grant (provided that in the
event that any option is proposed to be granted within a period
of less than 5 business days after the trading of the Shares first
commences on the Stock Exchange, the new issue price of the
Shares for the offer of new Shares shall be used as the closing
price for any business day falling within the period before listing of
the Shares on the Stock Exchange); and (c) the nominal value of a
Share on the date of grant.

KBEBEZREMAT o —T— 557

Report of the Directors
EEERE

KRB

REBBRAEBIER R EHRRRE
(BRIREBAARAESE &KSTH
ABREEERIBESANBEA
BROBRENRE) AREERRT -
EFECARERMBERETS AR
AH10FER ERALZZERBETH
EM2RFEZNRIBRE ZELQ
AR B IR R o R F R
A BN A AT 2 B Sk ER o B AR A
FIBERANRERR R HAHEED
MRBEXERE TAERREFEH
18R E B B 3 — AR B 0 (3K 5t
AN B E A IR o

EMEREZORMAR
EXNHRBHAHBI 1480 EBBEART]
HEBSEEERN - RIBEEBRETENE
FoEMREEREZONSEE ([
BAD EREREREZARRARR
AZAH1.008 7T -

wiBE
REEAREFENROFAERE
BEERNEETHNER EXRBE
THERTIEENESE : (@B
PRI IR B B E B 3R AT 51 &0 AR 49
mE: OBXARERRELAYANA
& % B & B 3K A5 H R F 15 1K
m{E (ERERD B RN PG E
BERINOELZEXEENBRANZZER
A A B AR - B 3% T A D B9 T X
D EITERA B D RBE AT £
AT AEMEEANKRTE) - &)
B th X H B B E(E

49



Report of the Directors
eI
= (=]

&

50

Option period

The period within which the Shares must be taken up under an
option shall be the period of time to be notified by the Board
to each Grantee at the time of making an offer, which shall be

determined by the Board in its absolute discretion at the time of

grant, but such period must not exceed 10 years from the date of

grant of the relevant option.

Maximum number of Shares subject to options

(@)

The aggregate number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and other
share option schemes of the Company (and to which the
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules are applicable)
must not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to
time;

The Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options
to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and other
share option schemes of the Company (and to which the
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules are applicable)
shall not exceed 600,000,000 Shares, representing 10%
of the aggregate of the Shares in issue on the Listing Date
and approximately 9.69% of the number of issued Shares
as at the date of this report of the Directors (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit");

The Company may refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit at
any time subject to prior Shareholders’ approval. However,
the Scheme Mandate Limit as refreshed shall not exceed
10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of the aforesaid
Shareholders’ approval. Options previously granted under
the Share Option Scheme and other share option schemes
of our Company (and to which the provisions of Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules are applicable) (including those
outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in accordance with its terms
or exercised), shall not be counted for the purpose of
calculating the limit as refreshed;
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(d) The Company may also seek separate Shareholders’
approval for granting options beyond the Scheme Mandate
Limit to Participants specifically identified by the Company
before the aforesaid Shareholders’ meeting where such
approval is sought; and

(e)  The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each Participant (including
both exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any
12 month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue
(the “Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options to a
Participant which would result in the Shares issued, and to
be issued, upon exercise of all options granted, and to be
granted to such Participant (including exercised, cancelled
and outstanding options) in the 12 month period up to and
including the date of grant of such further options exceeding
the Individual Limit shall be subject to Shareholders’ approval
in advance, with such Participant and his close associates
(or his associates if such participant is a connected person)
abstaining from voting.

8. Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
As at 31 March 2022, the remaining life of the Share Option
Scheme was approximately 4 years 10 months (expiring on 22
January 2027).

During the year ended 31 March 2022, no options had been granted,
exercised or cancelled or had lapsed under the Share Option Scheme.
There were no outstanding options under the Share Option Scheme as
at 31 March 2022.

KBEBEZREMAT o —T— 557

Report of the Directors
EEERE

(d) AAFINAIBINFRIREALER
2EERD BB EEELRLY
B ERSRZMEN L
RERASHSHEENEDEERR
GIEER

€ MEA12MEABEA - BITER
FTELEENERE (REDT
5 B RAITENEARE) M
BEBETRETRITNRGBHET
BB EITRGB1% (M85
LR o Wi —FmBEERD
BREsERA 12 A HE (B
ERBEZE-—SELBERES
B) RETEE R FREE FZ
SEENMEBERE(BEET
5 B RAITHEOERE) M
BT R TR TR, B E A
LR REBSERRSESHE
mARSEE &k HERE %%/\(ZZD
ﬁf‘ﬁ,,\%ﬁﬁﬁ AT R E
AN)BERERE -

8. ERFEFTEIRFRIERE ]
RZEZ_ZF=ZA=+—80" BEBR#®E
FEIMFSRFERLN AMFHEA (K=

E_+F—AZ+=BEmM) °

HE-_Z-_—_FZAZ+—BILtFE TE
BERERBERESSD D 1T
FELEM - RZBE_—_E=A=+—H8 I
EIRRERERT BIRITENBRE -

51



Report of the Directors
EEERE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

For the Year ended 31 March 2022, the Group entered into the
Renewed Property Management Framework Agreement (as defined
below) which constituted continuing connected transactions with
Shenzhen Zhaobangji and its subsidiaries (“Shenzhen Zhaobangji
Group”) and the continuing connected transactions have complied with
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Continuing connected transactions in relation to the
Renewed Property Management Framework Agreement
As disclosed in the annual report of the Group for the Previous Year, on
30 November 2018, Shenzhen Zhaobangji Property Services Company
Limited* ORI T I FBE Y Z R 75 B R A 7]) (“Shenzhen Zhaobangji
Property Services”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a property management framework agreement (the “Old
Property Management Framework Agreement”) with Shenzhen
Zhaobangiji (for itself and as trustee for the benefit of its subsidiaries from
time to time) in relation to the provision of property management services
by Shenzhen Zhaobangji Property Services in respect of properties
controlled or developed by Shenzhen Zhaobangji Group with a term
commenced on 21 December 2018 and ended on 31 March 2021.

References are made to (i) the announcement of the Company dated 14
January 2021; and (i) the circular of the Company dated 2 March 2021,
as the Old Property Management Framework Agreement expired on 31
March 2021 and Shenzhen Zhaobangji Property Services shall continue
to carry on the relevant property management services thereunder
upon the expiry date. On 14 January 2021, Shenzhen Zhaobangji
Property Services and Shenzhen Zhaobangji entered into a renewed
property management framework agreement (the “Renewed Property
Management Framework Agreement”) in respect of the provision of
property management services contemplated under the Old Property
Management Framework Agreement with a term commencing from 1
April 2021 to 31 March 2024 (the “Renewed Property Management
Continuing Connected Transactions”).
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As at 31 March 2022, Shenzhen Zhaobangji is controlled as to
approximately 81% by Mr. Xu Chujia, the chairman of the Board, an
executive Director and a controlling Shareholder indirectly holding
approximately 61.41% of the total number of issued Shares. As such,
Shenzhen Zhaobangji is an associate of Mr. Xu Chujia, and a connected
person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Shenzhen Zhaobangiji
Property Services is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The
transactions contemplated under the Renewed Property Management
Framework Agreement therefore constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The service scope under the Renewed Property Management
Framework Agreement includes:

1. Daily management, cleaning and repair of public areas of the
properties;

2. Security services and guest reception in the properties;

3. Maintenance of fire prevention, and reporting accidents to relevant
authorities and taking corresponding measures to support rescue
work in the properties;

4. Management of parking of vehicles and car parks (if applicable);

5. Management of renovation undertaken by occupants of the
properties; and

6. Management of the public utilities expenses paid by the
occupants.

Shenzhen Zhaobangji Property Services and Shenzhen Zhaobangji
Group shall enter into individual property management agreement(s)
in respect of each property to be managed by Shenzhen Zhaobang;ji
Property Services during the term of the Renewed Property
Management Framework Agreement. The terms of the individual
property management agreement(s) shall in principle be consistent with
the Renewed Property Management Framework Agreement.

The annual caps for the Renewed Property Management Framework
Agreement shall not exceed RMB27.0 million, RMB27.8 million and
RMB28.6 million, during the three years ended 31 March 2022, 2023
and 2024 respectively.
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The Renewed Property Management Continuing Connected
Transactions have been reviewed by the independent non-executive
Directors. The independent non-executive Directors have confirmed
that the Renewed Property Management Continuing Connected
Transactions have been entered into (1) in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group; (2) on normal commercial terms or better;
and (8) according to the Renewed Property Management Framework
Agreement on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
Renewed Property Management Continuing Connected Transactions
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its letter
containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the Renewed
Property Management Continuing Connected Transactions as disclosed
by the Group above in accordance with paragraph 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company
to the Stock Exchange.

Note:

*

The English translation of the Chinese name is for illustration purpose only.
Should there be any inconsistencies, the Chinese name shall prevail.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The significant related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the Year are set out in note 45 to the consolidated financial
statements, and they fall under the definition of “connected transaction”
or “continuing connected transaction” under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. Nevertheless, except as otherwise stated in note 45, these related
party transactions are not the Acquisition, the Tenancy Agreements
(as defined below) nor the Renewed Property Management Continuing
Connected Transactions disclosed in this Report of the Directors, or
connected transactions which are fully exempt under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The Company has complied with all applicable disclosure
requirements in respect of the connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions of the Group in accordance with Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company (i) acquired the entire
equity interest in Bang Century from the Vendors; and (i) entered into the
Tenancy Agreements (as defined below) with the Landlords (as defined
below), which constituted connected transactions, respectively, under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Connected Transaction in relation to the Acquisition of
the Entire Equity Interests in Shenzhen Bang Century
Interactive Network Company Limited* (GR35 FBH 42
EHRBERAT)

On 24 December 2021, Shenzhen Zhaobangji Dingding Playeat
eCommerce Company Limited* CRIITIK B ER T IR B T /5 5
B R 7Fl), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
as the Purchaser and Mr. Xu Weizhen and Mr. Chen Jiazhen as the
Vendors entered into a sale and purchase agreement in relation to the
Acquisition, pursuant to which, the Purchaser agreed to purchase and
the Vendors agreed to sell the entire equity interest in Bang Century.
The consideration for the Acquisition was RMB3,000,000 and the
Completion took place on 9 March 2022 in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the sale and purchase agreement.

Both the Vendors are the nephews of Mr. Xu Chujia, an executive
Director and one of the controlling Shareholders, the Vendors are
deemed connected persons of the Company and the Acquisition
constituted a connected transaction for the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

Following the completion of the Acquisition, Bang Century has become
an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. For details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 24 December
2021 in relation to, inter alia, the Acquisition.
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Connected Transactions in relation to the Tenancy
Agreements

On 24 December 2021, Shenzhen Bang Century Cultural and Media
Company Limited* (7 Il F tt 42 XL E 7 B R A 7)) (the “Tenant”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Bang Century, entered into (i) a tenancy
agreement (the “Tenancy Agreement-1") with Shenzhen Jinyifu
Investment Development Company Limited* ORI & I16 B EZEES
fR 2 7)) (the “Landlord-1") for the leasing of Units B1-3-8, B1-3-3 and
B1-1-1 of the Department Stores Plaza situated in Shennan East Road
3020, Dongmen Community, Dongmen Street, Luohu District, Shenzhen,
the PRC* (9 BIAR YII T 48 4 [& 5 P9 47 18 3R P9 44 [= )R @ 3R 3% 3020 5% &
EE5) (the “Premises-1”) for a period of one year commencing from
1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 at an aggregate monthly rent
of RMB156,217 (equivalent to approximately HKD191,506); and (ii) a
tenancy agreement (the “Tenancy Agreement-2”, together with the
Tenancy Agreement-1, the “Tenancy Agreements”) with Shenzhen
Liyumen Investment Development Company Limited* (4 3| T 8 £ 9
&% EBR A A (the “Landlord-2”, together with the Landlord-1,
the “Landlords”) for the leasing of Units L3-03, L3-13, L2-13/15/16-1,
L.3-13-3, L3-02 and L3-19-1 of Well Link City situated at Dongbin Road,
Liwan Community, Nanshan Street, Nanshan District, Shenzhen, the
PRC* (FEIRIITEILRAELEESH ELEFBERIBREYF
L)) (the “Premises-2") for a period of one year commencing from 1
January 2022 to 31 December 2022 at an aggregate monthly rent of
RMB222,280 (equivalent to approximately HKD272,493).

Upon completion of the Acquisition, the Tenant has become an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. As each of the Landlord-1
and the Landlord-2 is owned as to more than 50% by Shenzhen
Zhaobangji, which is owned as to more than 50% by Mr. Xu Chuijia, an
executive Director and one of the controlling Shareholders, (i) each of the
Landlords is a connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules and the entering into each of the Tenancy Agreements
constituted connected transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules; and (ii) the transaction under each of the Tenancy
Agreements shall be aggregated as a series of transactions for the
Company pursuant to Rule 14A.81 of the Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 24
December 2021 in relation to, inter alia, the Acquisition and the Tenancy
Agreements.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Year.

COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors or the controlling shareholders
and their respective associates had any interests in a business, apart
from the business of the Group, which competes or may compete with
the business of the Group or has any other conflict of interest with the
Group which would be required to be disclosed under rule 8.10 of the
Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group was set up by
the Board on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.
The emolument of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics. The Company has
adopted a Share Option Scheme as an incentive to eligible persons,
details are set out under heading “Share Option Scheme” in this annual
report.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the Group’s retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 16
to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
laws of Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company
was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief available to the Shareholders
by reason of their holding of the Shares.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2022, the Company’s reserves available for distribution
calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands amounted to approximately HK$196,000,000 million
(2021: HK$217 million).
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report,
the Company has maintained sufficient public float throughout the Year
as required under the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of the Group’s turnover and purchases attributable to
major customers and suppliers during the years ended 31 March 2022
and 2021 are as follows:
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For the year ended

BZETHAEHLFEE
31 March 2022 31 March 2021
—E-F —EF——
=A=+-—H =RA=+—8H
Percentage of turnover HEXENED L
From the largest customer KEZKEP 8.6% 12.0%
From the five largest customers in aggregate  RE A AXE P B8 26.6% 41.5%
Percentage of purchase HERBENE I
From the largest supplier KB mAHER 44.5% 53.5%
From the five largest suppliers in aggregate KERKEEEHBE 74.6% 78.9%

One of the five largest customers of the Group is a related party
controlled as to approximately 81% interest by Mr. Xu Chujia (an
executive Director and a controlling Shareholder). Save as disclosed
about, none of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in any
of the five largest customers and suppliers of the Group during the year
ended 31 March 2022.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to 31 March 2022 and up to the date of this report,
the Employment and Retirement Scheme Legislation (Offsetting
Arrangement) (Amendment) Bill 2022 (“MPF Offset Bill”) is passed
into law in June 2022. The Company will no longer be allowed to use
mandatory provident fund to offset long service payment payable to
employees under the Employment Ordinance upon termination of
employment. The directors of the Company are continuing to assess the
implications of MPF Offset Bill effective in 2025.
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DIVIDENDS

Any declaration of dividends will depend upon a number of factors
including the earnings and financial conditions, operating requirements,
capital requirements and any other conditions that our Directors
consider relevant and will be subject to the approval of our shareholders.
There is no assurance that dividends of any amount will be declared or
distributed in any given year.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”) was the auditor of the Group since
the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 10
February 2017 and had resigned from the position on 20 March 2020.
RSM Hong Kong (“RSM”) was appointed to fill the casual vacancy
occasioned by the resignation of PwC.

The consolidated financial statements for the two financial years ended
31 March 2021 and 2020 had been audited by RSM, who had resigned
as the auditor of the Group with effect from 25 April 2022 and BDO
Limited (“BDO”) was appointed as the new auditor of the Group with
effect from 25 April 2022 to fill casual vacancy occasioned by the
resignation of RSM.

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been audited

by BDO, who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Xu Chuijia
Zhaobangji Properties Holdings Limited

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ZHAOBANGJI PROPERTIES
HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhaobangji
Properties Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 66 to 199, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Estimated useful lives and residual values of machinery

Refer to note 5(a)(ii) “Critical judgements in applying accounting policies”
and note 19 “Property, plant and equipment” to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group held machinery of approximately
HK$155.4 million. For the year ended 31 March 2022, depreciation
expenses of machinery of approximately HK$48.9 million were
recognised.

Management estimates useful lives of the machinery by reference to
the Group’s business model, its assets management policy, expected
usage of the assets and expected repair and maintenance of the
assets. Management also takes into account the industry practice and
expectation on technical or commercial obsolescence arising from
changes or improvements in the market relevant to their business.

Residual values of the machinery are determined based on prevailing
market values for equivalent aged assets taking into account the physical
condition of the relevant assets and other economic considerations.

We focused on this area because the carrying amount of machinery is
significant to the consolidated financial statements and the determination
of estimated useful lives and residual values of machinery, which has a
direct impact on the calculation of depreciation expense, requires the
use of significant judgement and estimates.
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Our response:

° We assessed the reasonableness of the useful lives adopted by
the Group by benchmarking to other industry players, and tested
on a sample basis, whether additions to machinery have been
recorded in proper categories for the calculation of depreciation;

° We observed Group’s physical count procedures at year end on
machinery and the physical condition of the relevant assets to
identify whether there is any damaged or obsolete machinery; and

° We discussed with management on trends of prevailing market
values for equivalent aged assets for each major category of
machinery, corroborating explanations with recent machinery
sales for similar aged assets and market research that we have
performed, as appropriate.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2021, were audited by another auditor who expressed an
unmaodified opinion on those statements on 28 June 2021.

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

B RS ITE

e & ZB;E ARt 35 1A A £ R s ORI SR

BERERRD IS HSTHEN
m?.?¢EEJ CAHE BESEMRARE
REHNS RN

e RfiE BEXRERFEHEBNHER
AEEFLABEENERMR - LA
Bpl BB F A SRS B s
P54

© ﬁfﬁgﬁi%ﬂkﬁujuﬁﬁmfgiﬁﬁu%
RAEREREEMNRITMESBS -
i@%ﬁi@ﬁﬁ“ﬁ;‘*mﬁﬁ%&“%%&ﬁ
MEETHTMSHE (WNER) BES
RARRRE o

AEEBE_FT_—F=ZA=T—RHLFE
ZIRAMBRROLHS —RBRMBZLRN
TECFRASTN\BHEZERRERE
REER -

%%/AET
NAFHFANEE BT
KRB PR ZBAN RS o

iEEBE HMESRE &
TEEFAWHRE

?ﬁfFﬁ“ﬁiﬁ/f\Eﬂ“iﬁi‘%E’Jﬁﬁi’ET‘}%%Eﬁﬁﬁ
CRFATT A EZEFEMESEREMEA
E"j%nﬂmﬂ liii e

BARMEEAMBRROEFT  HAIHE
TEMEEMES  FitBREd  ZEHEM
EERBHEGEVBRRIEMERTBIE
FHTRNBEATEEARBRUFFEE
REERERA BN - ERERFIEHITHTIE -
MRBEMRBEAME S FEERERR -
BHTERESZEE -GEETH RFRA
EAHRE -



The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.
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ERBERBRITENETEOBED - &
MERTEXHE RETEXEREE -
FAPIIR -

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
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° obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Lau Kin Tat, Terry

Practising Certificate no. PO7676

Hong Kong, 28 June 2022
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Revenue
Cost of sales and services

Gross profit

Other gains and losses

Impairment losses on financial assets
Selling expenses

Administrative expenses

Profit from operations
Finance income
Finance costs

Finance income, net

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income

ltem that may be reclassified to
profit or loss:

Exchange differences on
translating foreign operations

Itemn that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss:

Fair value gain on revaluation of
financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income
for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive income
for the year
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2022

Notes HK$’000
B 5 THET

8 271,998
(167,875)

104,123
9 95
(4,302)

(4,122)

(37,176)

58,618
3,358
(1,290)

11 2,068

60,686
12 (22,699)

13 37,987

6,656

1,353

8,009

45,996

2021
—E-—F
HK$’000
FHET

240,107
(130,609)

109,498
35,549
(1,863)
(4,758)
(32,797)

105,629
2,430
(1,836)

594

106,223
(18,021)

88,202

7,024

1,432

8,456

96,658



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
reBmRkHEMPEEER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 HE—F === A=+—HI-FE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHET AT
Profit for the year attributable to: REERFFEBR -
Owners of the Company ZiN/NIEF SN 37,987 88,220
Non-controlling interests IR A A = (18)
37,987 88,202
Total comprehensive income AFEEXERRLER
for the year attributable to: BR:
Owners of the Company RRAREAA 45,999 96,678
Non-controlling interests FEPE M (3) (20)
45,996 96,658
Earnings per share for profit ANTEBAEMLRER Z
attributable to owners of BREF
the Company: 18
HK cents HK cents
A4l el
Basic BN 0.61 1.42
Diluted g N/AF3E A N/A-T i@ A
KABEMEZRERLOT ¢ — T - —FFR 67



Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Goodwiill

Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Finance lease receivables

Subleasing receivables

Deposits, prepayments and other
receivables

Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Finance lease receivables

Subleasing receivables

Inventories

Trade receivables

Deposits, prepayments and other
receivables

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Current tax assets

Amounts due from related companies

Bank and cash balances
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19
21
22

24
25
26

28
34

25
26
27
28

28

29

45
30

2022
—E=-C

HK$’000
FTEx

192,648
23,696

3,769

25,088

245,201

699
1,603
8,508

179,249

39,373
70,796
4,274

19,008
44,751

368,261

2021

T —F
HK$'000
FAT

241,339
30,503
61

2,298
377
1,637

32,199
591

308,905

2,859
2,577
9,331
65,481

18,230

28,712
221

133,814

261,225



Current liabilities

Contract liabilities

Borrowings

Lease liabilities

Trade and bills payables

Accruals and other payables
Amounts due to related companies
Current tax liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings

Lease liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

NET ASSETS
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Notes

P £

31
32
33
35
35
45

32
33
34

2022
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HK$°000

FERx

1,336
9,513
7,057
21,744
28,982
1,673
6,168

76,473

291,788

536,989

23,177
621
25,269

49,067

487,922

2021

T —F
HK$'000
FAT

1,309
13,144
14,776
26,913
27,495

1,152

5,265

90,054

171,171

480,076

7,491
30,659

38,150

441,926



Capital and reserves attributable to
owners of the Company

Share capital

Reserves

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
Non-controlling interests

TOTAL EQUITY

Approved by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2022 and are signed on

its behalf by:

Mr. Xu Chujia
FERREE
Director

EF
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2022
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Notes HK$’000
B 5 TET
36 12,390
39 475,587
487,977
(55)

487,922

2021

T —F
HK$'000
FAT

12,390
429,588

441,978
(62)

441,926

R-ZE-—FXA-tN\BLESSHET

HIATERERARE

Ms. Zhan Meiqing
BEXBExL
Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

n\/__]_\

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # = —=

=

Attributable to owners of the Company
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Financial

assets at

fair value

through

Foreign other

currency comprehensive Non-

Share Share translation Merger  Statutory income Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve eannings Total interests equity

RAYE

ALf

2EREZ
Bk RGEE MERERE  A0EE  iRRE SREERE  REEH @it FEREE  RREE
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
T Tkt Tk T T T T TAL ThT T

(ote36)  (ote39b)  (ote40)  (ote %)  (note 39(b)) (note 39(b))

(wetss)  (Witoop))  (Metsop)  (Wakdop)  (Waisop)  (REsop)
At 1 April 2020 RZ2-2§MmA-A 12,390 116,347 (2,082) 2,500 5,164 - 210,981 345,300 [$7)] 345,268
Total comprehensive income for the year FR2EGELE - - 7,026 - - 1432 88,220 96,678 (20) 96,658
Transfer to statutory reserve EREERRE - - - - 3,046 - (3.949) - - -
Changes in equity for the year FREREY - - 7,026 - 3946 1432 84,274 96,678 20) 96,658

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021
12,390 116,347 4944 2,500 9110 14382 295,265 441978 52 441926
Total comprehensive income for the year EREENELE - - 6,659 - - 1,353 37,087 45,999 @ 45,996
Transfer o statutory reserve BRZETRE - - - - 8,177 - 811 - - -
Changes in equity for the year EREREY - - 6,659 - 8,177 1,353 20810 45,999 k] 45,99
At 31 March 2022 W-BZ-§=f=1-R 12,390 116,347 11,603 2,500 17,287 2,785 325,065 487911 (55) 487,922
KHEMEZERERAT o —T-_FFW 71



Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Gain on disposals of property,
plant and equipment
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries
Gain on a bargain purchases
COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions
received
Loss on early termination of leases
Impairment losses on property,
plant and equipment
Impairment losses on financial assets
Impairment loss on goodwill
Fair value loss/(gain) on financial
assets at fair value through profit or
loss, net
Finance income
Finance costs

Operating profit before working capital
changes

Decrease in inventories

Increase in trade receivables

Decrease under sub-leasing receivables

Increase in financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Decrease in deposits, prepayments and
other receivables

Increase in contract liabilities

Increase in amounts due from related
companies

(Decrease)/increase in trade and
bills payables

(Decrease)/increase in accruals and
other payables
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Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—HLFE

2022 2021

—E-—F —E -

Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 FHET FAT
60,686 106,223

61,111 39,561

6,807 7,878
(7,486) (8,338)
43 (257) (18,142)
44 (848) -
s (1,202)

- 1,304

- 326

4,302 1,863

61 -
9,512 (8,788)
(3,358) (2,430)

1,290 1,836

131,820 125,091

823 496

(116,087) (2,843)

2,648 -
(51,597) (19,924)

20,333 16,457

24 66

(25,925) -

(7,773) 5,368

(1,227) 4,316



Cash (used in)/generated from
operations

Income tax paid

Interest paid on bank loans

Interest paid on lease liabilities

Net cash (used in)/generated from
operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest income on bank deposits

Purchase of property, plant and
equipment

Disposals of subsidiaries, net cash
inflow

Proceeds from disposals of property,
plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of assets
classified as held for sale

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net cash
outflow

Payment for construction in progress

Decrease in finance lease receivables

Net cash generated from investing
activities
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Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—HLFE

2022 2021

—E-—F —E -

Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 TFHET AT
(46,961) 129,027
(26,740) (17,687)
(757) (939)
(533) (897)

(74,991) 109,504

308 396

(25,366) (61,827)

43 1,482 76,352
30,835 10,467

- 18,698

44 (2,346) -
- (3,678)

1,617 2,763

6,530 43,171



Cash flows from financing activities

Repayments of borrowings

Proceeds from borrowings

Repayments of lease liabilities

Repayment of loans from a shareholder

Decrease in amounts due to related
companies

Net cash used in financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of
the year
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Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLFE

2022
—E-_F
HK$’000
FHET

(14,081)
9,839
(14,589)

(18,831)

(87,292)

(1,771)

133,814

44,751

2021
—E-—F
HK$’000
AT

(22,523)

5,558
(15,136)
(18,000)

(47,328)

(97,429)

55,246

3,100

75,468

133,814



Zhaobangji Properties Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability. The
address of its registered office is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands. The address of
its principal place of business is Unit 13-15, 11th Floor, China
Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road
Central, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company as at 31 March
2022, Boardwin Resources Limited, a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), is the immediate and ultimate
parent and Mr. Xu Chuijia is the ultimate controlling party of the
Company.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”). HKFRSs comprise
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”); and Interpretations.
These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange and with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).
Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed
below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements provides information on any changes in
accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group
for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these
consolidated financial statements.
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(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The Group has adopted the following new or revised HKFRSs,
which included HKFRSs, HKAS and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
relevant to the Group’s accounting policies and business
operations adopted for the first time prepared and presented
on the consolidated financial statements for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 April 2021:

COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June
2021

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 2

Amendments to HKAS 39,
HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16

Other than the amendment to HKFRS 16, the Group has not
applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective
for the current accounting period. Impacts of the adoption of the
amended HKFRSs are discussed below:
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(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendment to HKFRS 16, COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

The Group previously applied the practical expedient in HKFRS
16 such that as lessee it was not required to assess whether rent
concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the COVID-19
pandemic were lease modifications, if the eligibility conditions
are met. One of these conditions requires the reduction in lease
payments affect only payments originally due on or before a
specified time limit. The 2021 amendment extends this time limit
from 30th June 2021 to 30th June 2022. The Group has early
adopted the 2021 amendment in this financial period. There is no
impact on the opening balance of equity at 1st April 2021.

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 16, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

The amendments provide targeted reliefs from (i) accounting
for changes in the basis for determining contractual cash flows
of financial assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities as
modifications, and (i) discontinuing hedge accounting when an
interest rate benchmark is replaced by an alternative benchmark
rate as a result of the reform of interbank offered rates (“IBOR
reform”). The amendments do not have an impact on this interim
financial report as the Group does not have contracts that are
indexed to benchmark interest rates which are subject to the
IBOR reform. The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current accounting
period. Other than the Amendment to HKFRS 16, none of these
have had a material impact on the accounting policies of the
Group.
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(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective
The following new or revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to the
Group’s accounting policies and business operations, have been
issued, but are not yet effective.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the
related Amendments?
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework’
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting Policies?
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates?
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets

and Liabilities arising from a

Single Transaction?
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment —

Proceeds before Intended Use!

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfiling a Contract'

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020"

U Effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

2 Effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
g Effective for the annual period beginning on or after a date to be
determined.
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(b)

(a)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these amendments and new standards is expected to
be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that
the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, unless mentioned otherwise
in the accounting policies below (e.g. certain financial instruments
that are measure at fair value).

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
The Group has power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities,
i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
the control ceases.
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(a) Consolidation (Continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a
loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of
the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment
retained in that subsidiary and (i) the Company’s share of the net
assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill and any
accumulated foreign currency translation reserve relating to that
subsidiary. -

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the
Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment loss, unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale).
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(b) Merger accounting for business combination under

common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the combining entities as if they had been combined
from the date when they first came under the control of the
controlling party.

The consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and the consolidated statements of cash
flows include the results and cash flows of the combining entities
from the earliest date presented or since the date when the
combining entities first came under the common control, where
this is a shorter period, regardless of the date of the common
control combination.

The consolidated statements of financial position have been
prepared to present the assets and liabilities of the combining
entities as if the Group structure as at 31 March 2022 had been
in existence at the end of each reporting period. The net assets of
the combining entities are combined using the existing book values
from the controlling party’s perspective. No amount is recognised
in respect of goodwill or gain on bargain purchase at the time of
common control combination, to the extent of the continuation of
the controlling party’s interest.

There was no adjustment made to the net assets nor the net profit
or loss of any combining entities in order to achieve consistency of
the Group’s accounting policies.
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(c) Business combination (other than under common

control) and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of a
subsidiary in a business combination. The consideration transferred
in a business combination is measured at the acquisition-date
fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued, liabilities
incurred and any contingent consideration. Acquisition-related
costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the
costs are incurred and the services are received. |dentifiable assets
and liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at
their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities over the sum of the consideration transferred is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase which is attributed to the Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its acquisition-
date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is added to the sum
of the consideration transferred in a business combination to
calculate the goodwill.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially measured
at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate share of the net
fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the
acquisition date.
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(c)

(d)

Business combination (other than under common
control) and goodwill (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to
each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) or groups of CGUs that
is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each
unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents
the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes. Goodwill impairment reviews
are undertaken annually, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value
of the CGU containing the goodwill is compared to its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair value less
costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“‘HK$”),
which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances in each entity's financial

statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency on initial recognition using the exchange
rates prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets
and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rates at the end of each reporting period.
Gains and losses resulting from this translation policy are
recognised in profit or loss.
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(d) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(if)

(iii)

Transactions and balances in each entity's financial
statements (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates at
the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of that
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
that have a functional currency different from the Company’s
presentation currency are translated into the Company’s
presentation currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that statement of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are translated at
the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
foreign currency translation reserve.
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(d) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii) Translation on consolidation (Continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of monetary items that form part of the net
investment in foreign entities are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign
currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation
is sold, such exchange differences are reclassified to
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on
disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

(e) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes (other
than properties under construction as described below). Property,
plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the period in which they are incurred.
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(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

()

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at
rates sufficient to write-off their cost less their residual values over
the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The useful lives
are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 3 years
Machinery 1.5-10 years
Equipment and tools 3-5 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 5-10 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis.

Construction in progress represents leasehold improvements of
the properties managed by the Group and is stated at cost less
impairment losses. Depreciation begins when the relevant assets
are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Property usage rights

Property usage rights with finite useful lives are carried at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the assets. Amortisation of property usage rights,
which is calculated using straight-line method to allocate their
costs over the contracted operating period of 27 years.

Management reviews the expected useful lives at each
consolidated balance sheet date based on the estimated period
over which future economic benefits will be received by the Group
and takes into account the level of future competition and the
expected changes in the market.
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(g) Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the

contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease

if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified

asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control

is conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the

use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the

economic benefits from that use.

0]

The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-
lease component(s), the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and
leases of low-value assets. When the Group enters into a
lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.
The lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.
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(g) Leases (Continued)

0]

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised
is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial
amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments made
at or before the commencement date, and any initial direct
costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-
use assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying
asset or the site on which it is located, discounted to their
present value, less any lease incentives received. The right-
of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, except for the right-of-
use assets that meet the definition of investment property
are carried at fair value.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.
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(g) Leases (Continued)

0]

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate
of the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced
to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate lease.
In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on the
revised lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification. The
only exceptions are any rent concessions which arose as a
direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and which
satisfied the conditions set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS
16. In such cases, the Group took advantage of the practical
expedient set out in paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 Leases. In
such cases, the Group has taken advantage of the practical
expedient not to assess whether the rent concessions
are lease modifications, and recognised the change in
consideration as negative variable lease payments in profit or
loss in the period in which the event or condition that triggers
the rent concessions occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined as
the present value of contractual payments that are due to be
settled within twelve months after the reporting period.
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(g) Leases (Continued)

(if)

The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is
not the case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

The Group enters into arrangements to sublease an
underlying asset to a third party, while the Group retains
the primary obligation under the original lease. In these
arrangements, the Group acts as both the lessee and lessor
of the same underlying asset.

If the property lease is subleased under terms transferring
substantially all remaining risks and rewards under the head
lease to the lessee in the sublease, the right-of-use asset is
derecognised, and a subleasing receivable is recognised and
classified as a finance lease. Gain/loss on the derecognised
right-of-use asset, if any, is recognised in the profit or loss
account as income/expenses.

During the term of the sublease, the Group recognises both
finance income on the sublease and finance costs on the
head lease.
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(h) Inventories

(i)

()

Inventories comprise machinery and equipment, construction work
materials and consumables and are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out
basis. The cost of finished goods comprises all cost of purchase
and other cost incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue.
A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the effective
interest method.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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(k)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments (Continued)

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and
an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable,
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised
financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at
either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification
of the financial assets.
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(k) Financial assets (Continued)
Debt investments

Debt investments held by the Group are classified into one of the
following measurement categories:

= amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of
contractual cash flows which represent solely payments of
principal and interest. Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest method.

- Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“FVTOCI”) — recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments of principal
and interest and the investment is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both the collection of
contractual cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income, except for the
recognition in profit or loss of expected credit losses (“ECL”),
interest income (calculated using the effective interest
method) and foreign exchange gains and losses. When the
investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated in
other comprehensive income is recycled from equity to profit
or loss.

= FVTPL if the investment does not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI (recycling). Changes
in the fair value of the investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.

k) EREE (&)

BRRE
AEEHBENEBRED BUATE
Rl —:

- BHERAEA HEREDER/RKRE
MRSREMFTH  AERERAE
ERMNENZN - REMELEN
MBIMARBERAERAE -

|
an
g

NFEFAREMEERE ([
FEFARMEANRGE]) 22
éfF Bl HIRENE KR

EEAEAERMENXIN -
Hfﬁxéﬁ BERBGRINTREE -
ZEBREE A E’JTJxELﬂHﬁZHX
BRRERERHERER -2
?LTE“EJJEEWJEEH&AEPEE:
HAEBEREEER ((BREER
B MBWA (ERERMNX
RETE) RONEB ST RERMIE
s RIEERZERER - &
fiEmiash RENSEGILE
S E R =8

H> & D)

— BATEHARS WEETH
& R A B SRR T B
A2 Els (T ER) fye
AlzZEENATETEES (BHEF
BIRIBSER o



(k)

0]

(m)

Financial assets (Continued)
Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL unless
the equity investment is not held for trading purposes and
on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an
election to designate the investment at FVTOCI (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income. Such elections are made on
an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made if
the investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income remains in the fair
value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of.
At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in
equity securities, irrespective of whether classified as at FVTPL or
FVTOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other income.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for ECL.
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(n)

(o)

(p)

()

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying
amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as
met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset is available
for immediate sale in its present condition. The Group must be
committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for
recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of
classification.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured at the
lower of the asset’s previous carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under
HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial

liabilities and equity instruments are set out in (p) to (s) below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
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(r)

(s)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derivative

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period.
The accounting for subsequent changes in fair value depends on
whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and
if s0, the nature of the item being hedged. The Group designates
certain derivatives as either:

° hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a
firm commitment (fair value hedges

o hedges of a particular risk associated with the cash flows of
recognised assets and liabilities and highly probable forecast
transactions (cash flow hedges), or

o hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net
investment hedges).

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting.
Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that does not
qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in profit
or loss and are included in “other gains and losses”.
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(t) Revenue and other income

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

Revenue from the sale of machinery and spare parts is recognised
when control of the goods has been transferred, being when the
goods have been delivered to the customer’s specific location
(delivery). Following delivery, the customer has full discretion
over the manner of distribution and price to sell the goods, has
the primary responsibility when on selling the goods and bears
the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods.
A receivable is recognised by the Group when the goods are
delivered to the customers as this represents the point in time at
which the right to consideration becomes unconditional, as only
the passage of time is required before payment is due.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost
or FVTOCI (recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset.
For credit impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is
applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of
loss allowance) of the asset.

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss in equal instalments over the periods covered
by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the
use of the leased asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised
in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease
payments receivable. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are earned.
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(t) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(u)

Revenue from transportation, repairing and maintenance services

is recognised as a performance obligation satisfied at a point in

time when the related services are rendered.

Revenue from provision of property and other retail business

services is recognised over time.

Revenue from property leasing and subletting is recognised over

the lease terms.

Employee benefits

0]

(if)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave
are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision
is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long
service leave as a result of services rendered by employees
up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all employees. Contributions
to the schemes by the Group and employees are calculated
as a percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement
benefit scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the
dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits, and when the Group recognises restructuring
costs and involves the payment of termination benefits.
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(v)

(w)

(x)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.
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(x) Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over the lease
terms due to application of the initial recognition exemption.
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(x)

(y)

(@)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at
each reporting date for indications of impairment and where
an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense through
the consolidated statement of profit or loss to its estimated
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Recoverable
amount is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of
disposal of the individual asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows
of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present values are computed
using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset/cash-generating unit whose
impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated first
against the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata amongst the
other assets of the cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases
in the recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates
are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they reverse the
impairment.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on investments
in debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost or at
FVTOCI. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the
respective financial instrument.
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(2)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these financial assets are estimated using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as
well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date,
including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument
at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered
includes the future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s
debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other
similar organisations, as well as consideration of various external
sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate to
the Group’s core operations.
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(2)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

= significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk for a particular financial instrument;

= existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

- significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

- an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

(2)

EREEZRE (4
=R AR LT (8)

ERmE FHEEEARANSER

DRRBEE FFABREEATER :

‘rmﬂPr

5)

- SRIAINMEAE)XABEE
AN ERKFAMBEERL

- REeRIAEERRNINDT
i’iﬁﬂ‘?%\ /u\/ﬂ: ;

- BE- @Eﬂ&‘%&@ﬁ i/RE FIESE
/\1,5 & E\IE\E/‘]EE %ﬁﬁ%—FM ;

- ERALEEEERABHRE
=1k

- RA-EBANEMERTAEE
Jee\ e 7 S 0

— EBAMES  EERBMES
AEEREROBRETHEDY -
EHERABEEANENEE
T o

Eim DA FF AR AR - AEBERR
i & # 3 QHHELSOEiv@'Jimﬁé
ENEERR B V)56 R IAREZE
M BRIFAEEAEAHAEERRIL
EEEZEMNAIEASEER - RIER ©



(2)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default;

(i)  the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term; and

(i)  adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of
the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk
when the asset has external credit rating of “investment grade”
in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an
external rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating of
“performing”. Performing means that the counterparty has a strong
financial position and there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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(2)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable.

- when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

- information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the counterparty;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

- the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the counterparty’s financial difficulty,

having granted to the counterparty a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;
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(2)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

- it is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

- the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, including when the debtor
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information as described above. As for the
exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the
assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date, together with
any additional amounts expected to be drawn down in the future
by default date determined based on historical trend, the Group’s
understanding of the specific future financing needs of the debtors,
and other relevant forward-looking information.
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(2)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at the original effective interest rate.
For a lease receivable, the cash flows used in measuring the lease
receivable in accordance with HKFRS 16.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL
at the current reporting date, except for assets for which simplified
approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except
for investments in debt instruments that are measured at FVTOCI,
for which the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve,
and does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset in
the statement of financial position.
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(aa) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

(ab) Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item

reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these

criteria.
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(ac) Events after the reporting period
Events after the reporting period that provide additional information
about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting period are
adjusting events and are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements. Events after the reporting period that are not adjusting
events are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.

(ad) Related parties
(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company’s parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

()  The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iiy  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
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(ad) Related parties (Continued)

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

(vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(vii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Company or to the Company’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that
person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(i)  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.
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(a) Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors
have made the following judgements that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements (apart from those involving estimations, which are dealt
with below).

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in accounting policy disclosed in note 4(z), ECL
are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for
stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets.
An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition. HKFRS 9 does not
define what constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In
assessing whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly
increased, the Group takes into account qualitative and
quantitative reasonable and supportable forward-looking
information.
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(a) Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

(if)

(iif)

Estimated useful lives and residual values of property,
plant and equipment

Management estimates useful lives of the property, plant and
equipment by reference to the Group’s business model, its
assets management policy, the industry practice, expected
usage of the assets, expected repair and maintenance, the
technical or commercial obsolescence arising from changes
or improvements in the market. Residual values of the
property, plant and equipment are determined based on
prevailing market values for equivalent aged assets taking
into account the condition of the relevant assets and other
economic considerations. Depreciation expenses would
be significantly affected by the useful lives and residual
values of the property, plant and equipment as estimated by
management.

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into sublease contracts for certain
properties. The Group has determined, based on an
evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements,
including whether the lease term constitutes a major part
of economic life of the property usage rights and right-of-
use assets and whether the present value of the minimum
lease payments amounts to substantially all the fair value of
the property usage rights and right-of-use assets, whether
it retains substantially all the significant risks and rewards
incidental to the property usage rights and right-of-use
assets. Where this is not the case, the Group accounts for
the sublease contracts as finance leases, otherwise the
contracts are accounted for as operating leases.

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources

of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that

have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial

year, are discussed below.
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(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

0]

(if)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

During the year, HK$22,699,000 (2021: HK$18,021,000)
of income tax was charged to profit or loss based on the
estimated profit from operations.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and make
estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has
occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset value;
(2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported
by the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the
net present value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating the
recoverable amounts including cash flow projections and an
appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset (including right-
of-use assets), the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the CGU to which the assets belongs. Changing the
assumptions and estimates, including the discount rates or
the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could materially
affect the recoverable amounts.

(b) fEFtAREL ZEERR (&)

()

(if)

Fri& %t
AEBARSE T RAER AN
B -EBEMSHABERBEA
EHEAMGF - RBEEEBBIE
FZEAXSERAETAGESR
BUORBEREE SR FTE TR IA © &%
FEENRRUALRASZIE
SHHREEMEZR ERAEEE
SHELZETHROAEH R
EER AR EN T E -

£ A+ 22,699,000 7T Z FT 15 B
BGEMRE 2R AR B
fr (ZF = —% :18,021,000/%
JT) °

I3 - BB B R AR AL
EERE

ME BENMRKBARERESR
EE RSB R 5T E KORUE (10
Bk -RETEESGRE
By - AN SR 1878 4 h )l R A A
LEFBEGE : ()R EHLEREE
FEEEBENFFNETMAIR
QEBEERHMELBEMAN KM
SR (WAEREER) X AR
RISBEEMAEE[FTORRES
MERFRE RO KRANG
FHATYR Ol R A E E R R (2
RREREBRLEEWRR
x) - EEAAFEREE (B
EREEE) AR E S FEE - A
SEGHEEMBREELEN
A E SR - ERABRRIR
fEEr (BRERERERB PR
RRHERR) AREZEA
W [El & 58 o



(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(if)

(i)

(iv)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets as at 31 March 2022 were
HK$192,648,000 and HK$23,696,000 (2021:
HK$241,339,000 and HK$30,503,000) respectively.

Impairment of financial assets measure at amortised cost

The management of the Group estimates the amount
of impairment loss for ECL on financial assets measure
at amortised cost based on 12-month or lifetime ECL
assessment. The amount of the impairment loss based
on ECL model is measured as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition. Where the future cash
flows are less than expected, or being revised downward
due to changes in facts and circumstances, a material
impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amounts of trade
receivables and other receivables are HK$179,249,000 and
HK$39,373,000 respectively (net of allowance for doubtful
debts of HK$6,854,000 and HK$311,000 respectively) (2021:
trade receivables and other receivables of HK$65,481,000
and HK$44,659,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of
HK$3,593,000 and nil)).

Allowance for slow-moving inventories

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is made based on the
ageing and estimated net realisable value of inventories. The
assessment of the allowance amount involves judgement
and estimates. Where the actual outcome in future is
different from the original estimate, such difference will
impact the carrying value of inventories and allowance
charge/write-back in the period in which such estimate has
been changed.

(i))

(iii)

(iv)

(b) At TAREMZEERR (&)

ME- - BMERREUARFERE
EERMEE)
ff’/ﬂ% EREEARERAEE
ER_ZE_—_F=ZA=+—HHK
BREE D Bl A192,648,0007% 7T
123,696,000 L (ZF = —4F :
241,339,000 % 7T & 30,503,000 7%
JT) ©

REBENATTENEREER
B
AEEETRERBZI2E A E2H
TEHA(E B B B AT (iR S K AN &t
ENEeREECERAEEEBEER
EEEeE REBHEEER
RAFENREEESEERZRBIR
BENENAEENFEEHR
enEEAEEERWINME
ReEMmECHMNEZREHE WK
6 HE R BB A KALIR o a0
RERKB\BEREENTEL A
EFEERBAE(T T - BIAT 88
MR EAREEE -

RZZBE—_=—F=A=+—H8"

5 FE WK I8 K B i B UL IEEGHE
HE D Al &179,249,0007 7t &
39,373,000/ 7 (31 b RIR B 15
6,854,000 7% 7T % 311,000 JT)
—E-_—F EGRKGERE
& W R I8 5 Bl /3 65,481,000 74
7T & 44,659,00078 7T (1B R BE
B 83,593,000 8 T B TT)) °

FHETEERE

BHEHTFERBIOIRBEEZR
e MG ET A 2R EFE L - BiR
B s R H i R s - WA
BRERERAHIRRAE G
AIFRERBTEERMMGE
FHRGEE 2 REERBEE
BR,/ M -



(b)

(a)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(iv) Allowance for slow-moving inventories (Continued)

As at 31 March 2022, no allowance for slow-moving
inventories was recognised in profit or loss (2021: Nil).

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, equity price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in HKS, Japanese Yen (“‘JPY”), United States dollars
(“US$”) and Renminbi (“RMB”). The Group currently does not have
a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group monitors its foreign
currency exposure closely and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

At 31 March 2022, if the HK$ had weakened 5 per cent against
the JPY with all other variables held constant, consolidated
profit after tax for the year would have been HK$32,000 (2021:
HK$177,000) lower, arising mainly as a result of the foreign
exchange loss on trade and bills payables denominated in JPY.
If the HK$ had strengthened 5 per cent against the JPY with all
other variables held constant, consolidated profit after tax for the
year would have been HK$32,000 (2021: HK$177,000) higher,
arising mainly as a result of the foreign exchange gain on trade and
bills payables denominated in JPY.

At 831 March 2022, the Group held certain financial assets and
financial liabilities which were denominated in US$ and RMB. The
directors are of the opinion that the Group’s exposure to US$ and
RMB foreign currency risk is minimal.
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(b) Equity price risk

(c)

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly through its
investment in equity securities. The management manages this
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different
risk and return profiles. The Group’s equity price risk is mainly
concentrated on equity securities quoted on the Stock Exchange.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risk at the end of the reporting period.

If equity prices had been 10% higher/lower (2021: 10%),
consolidated profit after tax for the year ended 31 March 2022
would increase/decrease by HK$5,466,000 (2021: HK$1,513,000).
This is mainly due to the changes in fair value of held-for-trading
investments.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation
by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amounts of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the respective
notes to the consolidated financial statements. The Group’s
exposure to credit risk is mainly related to its contractual cash
flows of trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, and
bank and cash balances.

The Group has three types of financial assets that are subject to
the expected credit loss model:

o bank and cash balances;

° trade receivables for sales of goods and from the provisions
of services; and

o other financial assets at amortised cost.
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(c) Credit risk (Continued)

0]

(if)

Bank and cash balances

The Group’s bank deposits are placed with banks and
financial institutions which are highly reputable with
multinational presences. Investment transactions are
executed with financial institutions with sound credit ratings
and the Group does not expect any significant counterparty
risk. Management does not expect any losses from
nonperformance by these banks and financial institutions as
they have no default history in the past.

Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group applies the HKFRS 9
simplified approach to measure ECL which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. To
measure the ECL, trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past
due.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles
of sales over a period of 12 to 24 months before 31 March
2022 or 31 March 2021 respectively and the corresponding
historical credit losses experienced within this period. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Impairment losses on trade
receivables are presented in impairment losses on trade
receivables of the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited against the same
line item.
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(c) Credit risk (Continued)

(if)

(iii)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Loss allowance calculation of trade receivables

The Group applies simplified approach for assessing
the expected credit loss. To measure the ECLs, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due as disclosure in
note 28 with adjustment of forward-looking information. The
management considered the trade receivables exposure to
credit risk is low. As at 31 March 2022, the expected credit
loss rate for the trade receivables neither past due or not
yet impaired is 0.7%, for 1 to 30 days is 6.2%, for 31 to 60
days is 7.0%, for 61 to 90 days is 7.4% and for more 90
days past due is 15.0%,respectively. For the year ended 31
March 2022, the impairment loss on trade receivables of
HK$3,991,000 was recognised in the profit or loss. As at 31
March 2022, the expected credit loss allowance of the trade
receivables is HK$6,854,000.

Other financial assets at amortised costs

The Group applies the expected credit loss model on other
financial assets at amortised cost. Impairment on other
financial assets at amortised cost are measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit
losses, depending on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant
increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since
initial recognition, then impairment is measured as lifetime
expected credit losses. The loss allowance of other financial
assets at amortised cost of approximately HK$311,000 was
recognised in the profit or loss to the consolidated financial
statement for the year ended 31 March 2022.
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(d) Liquidity risk (d) REEZEE

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected REBHEEETEHEZTRERER
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves MENE 2T K - AR E IR 2
of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer #H oREEEHERZRBESTRK -
term.
The maturity analysis based on contractual undiscounted cash REBEENTESRABIZREORMNIE
flows of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities is as follows: ReNEMIEBBRALTAT :
Total
Less than Between Between  contractual
1 year or 1and 2and undiscounted Carrying
on demand 2 years 5years  cash flows amount
BRRER
DIE BeRE

HIRER 1E2F 2Z55F k] IREE
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
TET TER THT TER TER

At 31 March 2022 R-ZZE--%=A

=t+-H
Trade and bils payables B 5N RERER

i 21,744 - - 21,744 21,744
Accruals and other payables [EETE A R EAMER

Q] 28,982 - - 28,982 28,982
Amounts due to related e BB X BI5RIA

companies 1,673 - - 1,673 1,673

Borrowings BN 10,439 21,193 3,113 34,745 32,690
Lease liabilities HEBE 7,296 668 - 7,964 7,678

70,134 21,861 3,113 95,108 92,767



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &= —=

6.

F=ZRA=+—RHILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. WZH o 5 38 (48)
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) "RBESREB (&)
Total
Less than Between Between contractual
1 year or 1and 2and undiscounted Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years cash flows amount
BHRAREEE
kS HenE
SR EK 15246 2E5F e ARE A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TEx THT THT TET
At 31 March 2021 R-B=--%=8
=t+—H
Trade and bills payables 2SR RIBEREN
ES3 26,913 - - 26,913 26,913
Accruals and other payables [T B A R EMER
A 27,495 - - 27,495 27,495
Amounts due to related JRE 1~ A Bk 1 B R
companies 1,152 - - 1,152 1,152
Borrowings EE 13,144 - - 13,144 13,144
Lease liabilties HEaE 15,104 7,296 668 23,068 22,267
83,808 7,296 668 91,772 90,971
The following table summarises the maturity analysis of bank TRBMEBSZERBEERMZE

120

borrowings with a repayment on demand clause based on agreed
scheduled repayments set out in the loan agreements. The
amounts include interest payments computed using contractual
rates. As a result, these amounts were greater than the amounts
disclosed in the “on demand” time band in the maturity analysis
contained above.
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(d) Liquidity risk (Continued)

(e)

(d) RBESERE (&)

Maturity Analysis - bank borrowings
subject to a repayment on demand clause

based on scheduled repayments
MBS —REFEERENA
SRERBERERRRORTER

Less than
1 year
DR1E
HK$'000
THT
At 31 March 2022 RZBEZZH=H
=+—H
Borrowings BN 6,659
At 31 March 2021 RZBE-—-%5=H
=+—H
Borrowings CEA 10,429

Interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on
the fluctuation of benchmark interest rate of the People’s Bank of
China arising from the Group’s bank saving accounts and certain
bank borrowings.

Other than bank saving accounts and certain bank borrowings
mentioned above, the Group’s finance lease receivables and bank
borrowings at fixed interest rate and therefore are subject to fair
value interest rate risk.

The directors consider the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk
is not significant and therefore no sensitivity analysis has been
prepared.

Total
undiscounted

Between 1 Between 2 cash Carry

and 2years and 5 years outflows amount
AERRE

1225 255  RHBRE BREE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THT THT THT TET

2,457 - 9,116 8,902

3,419 - 13,848 13,144
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #E =T - —F = A=+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 6. BRI EIE (&)

(f) Categories of financial instruments: ) eEmIBEnEE:
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T T
Financial assets: EWMEE -
Financial assets at FVTPL: BEAFEFABRZEREE
Mandatorily measured at FVTPL WA EF ABRE
— Held for trading —BEEER 70,796 28,712
Financial assets amortised cost BEHEK AT ENEREE 285,914 250,789
Financial assets at FVTOCI AT EAS A LM 2R
ZEMEE 3,769 2,298
Financial liabilities: eWMEE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost RBEN AT ENSRBE 85,089 68,704
Financial instrument: o =
Lease liabilities HERE 7,678 22,267
(9) Fair values (90 ~¥E
Except as disclosed in note 7 to the consolidated financial BRara SRR 7R EEIN - &
statements, the carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets SEGAGZEHBRARPHNERE
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of EkcHEaENRAERESENA
financial position approximate their respective fair values. FERE °
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Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or

paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market

participants at the measurement date. The following disclosures of

fair value measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises

into three levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to

measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs:

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for

identical assets or liabilities that the Group can
access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs:

inputs other than quoted prices included within

level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs:

unobservable inputs for the asset or liability

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out

of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in

circumstances that caused the transfer.

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy:

Description

Recurring fair value
measurements:

Financial assets at FVTPL -
listed equity security (note 29)

Financial assets at FVTOCI -
unlisted equity security (note 24)

Derivative financial instruments —
Call option (note 29)

5
BEMATENE

BATEGABRZEREE
— ETRRAE S (H15E29)
BAFEG AL ZEREZ
SREE-FLETRAES
(HisE24)
ESRMT A
R (35 20)

(a)

RFEEEMH2EERFE B PR
EFXZHE-—BREERERIKER
BEREXNZER A THRFE
HENRBECAATERRER  Z
BREBEANFEAFENGBEZL

NEADR=/:

F—RB@A AKERFEBHA
R~ ESHIERE E K
BENEBRMSZH
B CRIGAE) -
F_RBA HEEHABEEX
ZERE AR BR 28 A
2B (F—RANBE
K REERIN) o
F=RBA BEIRENTAE
BURE i ABIR

AEENBRRE BEHHENER
MR 2 B BEREANME H

= @RI &Y (T fa] — 1@ -

AFESRAFHE

Fair value measurements as at 31 March 2022 using:

R-B--E=A=1+-HAZAVE;ERA:

Level 1
£-%
HK$000
THT

54,660

54,660

Level 2 Level 3
FH BE=R
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TER
- 3,769

- 16,136

- 19,905

Total
@t
HK$000
TR

54,660

3,769

16,136

74,565
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7.

124

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy:

(Continued)

7.

NFEE (&)

() AFPEFHKFRE : (&)

Fair value measurements as at 31 March 2021 using:

RoB=—F=A=t-AZATENERA:

Description A Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
EF— F-H E=M Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THIT THT T
Recurring fair value REMEDNTETE:
measurements:
Financial assets at FVTPL - BRATEFABR L EREE
listed equity security (note 29) — IR AE S (M5E29) 15,133 - - 15,133
Financial assets at FVTOCI - BATEGFARMEEREZ
unlisted equity security (note 24) SREE-FLTREAES
(Pt 24) - - 2,298 2,298
Derivative financial instruments - fTEeBMTIA-
Call option (note 29) R R (M E20) - - 13,579 13,579
15,133 - 15,877 31,010
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 E{E == FZHA=T—HILFE
7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 7. XNFEFEE)
(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based  (b) J«X"":,. NFEFECEE
on level 3: Z 11 Bk
Financial assets Derivative
at FVTOCI - financial
unlisted equity instruments -
securities call option Total
BAFAETA
Hitr2EE
ZEMEE-  fTESEIA-
FETRAHE S REE M@t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TET
At 1 April 2020 “E-TEMA—H 755 - 755
Total gains or losses recognised E ﬁE Rl EEAE
—in profit or loss (#) - RBEAH) - 13,579 13,579
— in other comprehensive income - REMEAKEA 1,432 - 1,432
Exchange difference EHEE 2kl - 111
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 ZEZ-F=A=t-8k
:g:_¢ mA—H 2,298 13,579 15,877
Total gains or losses recognised BRAkESBEEE
~in profit or loss (#) —REHER (#) - 2,557 2,557
— in other comprehensive income -REMEEKERA 1,418 - 1,418
Exchange difference EHZE 53 - 53
At 31 March 2022 R-ZE-_—F=A=+—H 3,769 16,136 19,905
(#)Include gains or losses for assets held ~ (#) BRERREHREA
at end of reporting period ZBEZWERER
2022 —TZF - 2,557 2,557
2021 —E--F - 13,579 13,579
The total gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive P E b 2 T S R AR 2 W A Bk S 1B AR
income are presented on the face of the consolidated statement of ERfraBEa Rk Et2EAKEREY -

profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The total gains or losses recognised in profit or loss are presented
in other gains and losses of the consolidated statement of profit or

loss and other comprehensive income.

KBEMEZRERAA ¢ —T - —FFRF

//

BARZ -

R R Wk sl B 1R 4 A
BalkEMmezmbaREBEERE

BER G2
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(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group

and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair
value measurements at 31 March 2022:

The Group’s financial controller is responsible for the fair value
measurements of assets and liabilities required for financial
reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value measurements. The
financial controller reports directly to the Board of Directors for
these fair value measurements. Discussions of valuation processes
and results are held between the financial controller and the Board
of Directors at least twice a year.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally
engage external valuation experts with the recognised professional
qualifications and recent experience to perform the valuations.

The Group’s derivative financial instrument is categorised as level
3 financial instruments. Disclosures relating to derivative financial
instrument are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements. The fair value of derivative financial instrument that is
not traded in an active market is determined by the use of binomial
option pricing model and key unobservable data includes the
expected volatility and discount for lack of marketability.

The Group’s unlisted equity security is categorised as level 3
financial instruments. The fair value of unlisted equity security
was determined by the adjusted net asset approach and key
unobservable input includes net asset value and adjustments to
book value of underlying assets not measured at fair value.

During the two years, there were no changes in the valuation
techniques used.

() AEBEZKHAZHERF KM

(=l £Lx&@$@n+gﬁﬁ?“ﬁﬁ
ZEMABBR-_ZE-__F=
B=+t—Hz2HKE:
AEEZHBETEABRMBREEN
FTREAERABZATEHNE (BES
=H/RAFEFE) HMBEEEERE
EeERZEAFEFE - UHEE
HEREELEFETMAGERF
MR -

BRF=MAFEFE AEEBT
CRFEELARBEXERMOHLR
MM RE S B EETTIE(E

AREBIUALHIEREAS=4%

BMTE -BFETESRTAEZHES

ARG B 75 R R MT 3£ 20 o I £ 1A UE BB

MBS ERXG2NESBMTAERAFETD

HFRAZHEAAETERNEE KAR

Z:T%ﬁf?%ﬂ}?@%ﬁ,ﬁﬁﬁ@&ﬁi?ﬁ
AR T TR -

Kilm#imk$ ESRER/E

MEBT A -FFLEMRAEZFNA $
BENEEABREEFEIEEREER
TABRG A \BEEEEEFERY
WIrmAFEFENHBEENKRT
BEELEAEE -

RMEFE FERGEELEZLE -



Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by major

products or service line for the year is as follows:

W st 0 A
ERNRETEERARBEEUDIOES
KRR ITIT -

Revenue from contracts with customers & BB IF R EE B FE 159588

within the scope of HKFRS 15
Disaggregated by major products or
service lines:
Sales of machinery and spare parts and
provision of related services
Transportation services
Property management services
Property leasing, subletting and others

Revenue from other sources

Interest income on the net investments in
subleases

Property leasing, subletting and others

Leasing of machinery and provision of
related services

RNEF &Nk
BIBERIRBERIMN

B M Ko R T A R AR 1

R RS
B R AR
MEEIERS
MEME - BHEREA

R B E At 3R B 3
DR EFEFEWA

WEMRE  EHEEEM

MR E e AR A8 R AR 75

2022 2021
—s=-= —T - —4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
31,638 34,093
6,225 12,949
88,543 63,637
313 -
126,719 110,679
5,469 7,883
1,238 1,110
6,707 8,993
138,572 120,435
145,279 129,428
271,998 240,107



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MR
For the year ended 31 March 2022 i Z == F=A=+—HLFE
8. REVENUE (Continued) 8. Wz (4&)
Disaggregation of revenue (Continued) Wz 47 (48)
The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and services NEEZ AT £ Z E AR R S BE R
over time and at a point in time in the following major product lines MERE-—KFEREREmRREE
and geographical regions: AU
Revenue from contracts with customers within the scope of BEEVBREERNE1SREER
HKFRS 15 MEF a0 RE
Sales of machinery
and spare parts
and provision of Property Property leasing,
related services Transportation services management services subletting and others Total
HERHR
L EEL
REURERE EQlRE NEERRH NERE ERREL it
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

8-k “R--F Cgocf CE--f ZRTCE CEC-E C®ItE CRo-F Cgoof CRof
HK$000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKSOO0  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HK$O000
Tin Thn T Tin Tin T Tin Thn T Tin

Primary geographical markets  *EHE i3

Hong Kong e 31,638 34,003 6,225 12,949 - - - - 37,863 47042
The PRC except Hong Kong BE(FERN) - - - - 88,543 63,637 313 - 88,856 63637
Revenue from extemal customers R ENIZPHRE 31,638 34,093 6,225 12,049 88,543 63,637 313 - %9 110,679

Timing of revenue recognition  KHBIHH
Goods and senvioes translered ata HE-EEZELERR

point n ime i 31,638 3,093 6,225 12,949 - - - - 37,863 47,042
Senvice transferred over fime REHEDRE - - - - 88,543 63,637 313 - 88,856 63,637
Total At 31,638 34,003 6,225 12,949 88,543 63,637 33 - 126,119 110679
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Disaggregation of revenue (Continued)

Revenue from other source not within the scope of HKFRS 15

Primary geographical markets = Zi[& 35
Hong Kong B
The PRC except Hong Kong B (BB 4N

REHNSBEPH

Revenue from external
customers

Leasing of machinery
and provision of
related services

KEEER

RERBERS
2022 2021
—E--f —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT  TER
105,961 91,503
32,611 28,932
138,572 120,435

W 2% 20 4 (48)

BB RMEERE 15REE I
Y L At 2RR UK
Property leasing,
subletting and others Total
NERE BEREM @t
2022 2021 2022 2021
—B--F -—T-—-& CZE-_-&E -—T-—F
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
THET THL TET THL
- - 105,961 91,503
6,707 8,993 39,318 37,925
6,707 8,993 145,279 129,428



N

(i)

Government grant and subsidy (note (i)

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment (note (i)

Impairment loss on goodwill

Compensation for damaged property,
plant and equipment (note (ii))

Gain on disposals of property, plant and
equipment

COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions
received (note 21)

Loss on early termination of leases

Gain on disposals of subsidiaries (note 43)

Gain on a bargain purchase (note 44)
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets at
FVTPL, net

Forfeited rental deposits

Net foreign exchange gain
Others

otes:

IR T 4 B R e B (PR ))
ME - WEREBREEBSE
(P 3% (i)
(S DERIEY Fi
ME - BERSEBERE
(P 3 (i)
LEME - BREREHD
Wk
BT S A R S EE
(M5E21)
REXRIEETHE BB
HEWE ARz W
(MI5E43)
2B E s (MsEad)
BRATEFABZZEHE
EZAFE(BE) W
FRE
BRHERS
HINE Ut 25 B8
HA

ik

§

Representing local government grants of enterprises development,
subsidy of value-added tax paid by subsidiaries and COVID-19
related subsidies, of which HK$3,449,000 relates to Employment
Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong government in prior

year.

Impairment loss of HK$326,000 had been made for property,

plant and equipment and compensation of HK$175,000 has been

received as a result of damage in prior year.

2022 2021
—E-—F — T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHTT
= 4,024
- (326)
(61) -
- 175
7,486 3,338
- 1,202
- (1,304)
257 18,142
848 -
(9,512) 8,788
- 589
192 561
885 360
95 35,549

BsE :

0 EEMBANEEERMY MELQ
B2 SIS A S (B T A0 8 B % ¥ i 26
8 78 7 Bk - H H13,449,000% T B &
FEBBFRE 2R BIAER -

E2F YE BEAREREERA
326,0007% 7t K& & 18 = i Uk B A9 B (8
/175,000 7T °

(i)



The group has five (2021: five) reportable segments as follows:

(i) Trading — Sales of machinery and spare parts
and provision of related services
(i)  Leasing — Leasing of machinery and provision of
related services
(i) ~ Transportation  — Provision of transportation services
(iv) Property — Provision of property management
management services

(v)  Property leasing, — Provision of property leasing, subletting
subletting and and other retail businesses

others

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units
that offer different products and services. They are managed
separately because each business requires different technology
and marketing strategies.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as
those described in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.
Segment profits or losses do not include corporate income and
expenses, certain other income, finance cost and income tax.

The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers as if
the sales or transfers were to third parties, i.e. at current market
prices.

AEBEUTRHE(ZZE=—F : 7{E)
AIE®RDEL
O B —  HEMWRE
BZH MR
A R AR 75
@i e —  THEWHWW MR
A [ AR 75
(i) Eiw —  REESGRKS
vy WEEE — IEEDEEE
BR 7%
v) PEREE. — IEHYpERES-
K HAREME
Hih BT

AREBE A 2Hm D BB R E AR E @
ERRGHBEEGEM - AN ESEE
BHHEETR KM & E R 8E
AEBIORER -

REDBHERRALZRAMFERE
BiEE4 PRt B ARR - 2 BB A Sk s R L
FEREATBRA RS H -ETHEAMBEA
BIRE AR R PSR ©

AEBBOBREEERERZBNE
MHERBEIRE=T (AMRREH
BIERZ T AAR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #E =T - —F = A=+—HIFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(i) Information about reportable segments profit or

10. 7 EBRE R (&

() BEAT 2D R NEE

loss: HNER :
Property Property leasing,
Trading Leasing Transportation management subletting and others Total
g5 il 1] S NERE - EARAY @i
2022 2001 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2001
Zg-CF -F--F CCCF “F--% CECCE CFC-F CBCCF CE--F CFCCF CF--F CBoCE CEC-F
HKS$000  HK000  HK$000 HKS000  HKS000 HKSO00  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000
Tér Thr TErn  TEr TRn TEr  TEn  TEr  TEn  TEn  TER T
Year ended 31 March HEZR=t-HLEE
Revenue from extemal customers ~ RESMIZ PR 31638 34093 1385712 120435 6225 12949 88543 63637 7,020 8993 271998 240,107
Inter-segment revenue” prlie - - - - - - 155 - - - 15% -
Reportable segment revenue BEE R 31,638 34003 1385712 120435 6225 12949 90,068 63637 7,020 8993 213528 240,107
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH - - (65915 (43088) (48 (1691) - - (515) (905) (66,678 (45,684
Impaiment lossesonproperty, 1% - BERRENES
plant and equipment i - - - (326) - - - - - - - (326)
(Gain on disposals of property, plant £ E41% + HE REH
and equipment W& - - 5,365 1,148 2121 1430 - - - 760 7,486 3,338
Loss on eary termination of eases  REA L AE 2Bl - - - - - - - - - (1w - (1
Sgmentfossjproftoeoetax  REAABEE)/EH @S (18 RS M40 5 457 SIB N6 1084 808 0198 970

*

Inter-segment revenue transactions are priced with reference to
prices charged to external parties for similar orders based on similar
terms and conditions of sales agreements entered.

DHERER ZNEE IS EREE
T SL A §H 5 15 a8 A0 2R ELIGR SR 5 1 52
SEELRT B RSN AR A T URERHI(EFE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R B ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 HE—F === A=+—HI-FE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(ii) Reconciliations of reportable segments revenue and

profit or loss:

10. T EPE R ()

(i) Ao BURFEBIBRAVE

2022 2021
=B —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHEx T
Revenue g
Total revenue of reportable segments Al 2| kL5 271,998 240,107
Profit or loss B
Total profit or loss of reportable segments 7] 2R /) 1254258 91,958 92,790
Unallocated amounts: RO ERE
Unallocated corporate income AP B ARUA 4,383 34,280
Unallocated corporate expenses RO ARZH (35,655) (20,847)
Consolidated profit before tax B B AT 4R A A 60,686 106,223

Note: Unallocated head office and corporate expenses mainly include
professional and consultancy fees, administrative expenses and

business development expenses.

(iii) Geographical information:

Revenue

The Group’s revenue from external customers by location of

MiEE RO RNAHNATNERIZEREE
ENHARAER THAXMEBER

BR -

(i) EEER :
Wy 28

AEBEREZWEESNKBIBE

operations are detailed below: PR EFIBOT

2022 2021

—Eg-— —_F-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Hong Kong 5B 144,304 138,545
PRC except Hong Kong P (BBBRIN 127,694 101,562
Consolidated total R 1B 271,998 240,107

AABHEERERAT « —F- 555
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e SRR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 = —& — —F

=A=+—HLFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

10. 7P E R (&)

(iv) Revenue from major customers: (iv) EEEZEF W&
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THExT FAT
Customer A Z2EA - 26,550
Customer B =FB 32,114 28,932

(v) Reportable Segment assets

The following table provides an analysis of reportable segment
assets of different reportable segments recognised as at 31 March

2022 and 2021:

(v) AI2HoMEE

TREMER - E-__FR_T_—F
A=+ HBERTRATEHD A2

A 2RDMEEDIHN ¢

2022 2021

—Eg-= = = =

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET TAT

Trading =g 71,174 103,163
Leasing HE 389,512 301,038
Transportation B 6,023 10,722
Property management WMEER 20,997 25,991
Property leasing, subletting and others WEMEE pHEREAM 80,158 62,619
Total reportable segment assets AERoHEERE 567,864 503,533
Unallocated Robe 45,598 66,595
Consolidated total assets LAEBERE 613,462 570,130

The segment assets is evaluated based on different reportable

segment assets, which is a common measure of assets held by

different reportable segments. The consolidated total assets are

allocated to different reportable segments which are measured

consistently with the Group’s assets except for the corporate

assets held by headquarter or inactive subsidiaries.
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e SRR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 E{E == FZHA=T—HILFE
. S IN
10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 10. 7P E R (&)
(vi) Reportable Segment liabilities (vi) IEFDIBEE
The following table provides an analysis of reportable segment TERERR-ZZEZZFR=-ZFT=—F
liabilities of different reportable segments recognised as at 31 A=+ HAERTRATEHI B2
March 2022 and 2021: AZ2|HFEES :
2022 2021
. - Jomond —E—%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEx T
Trading =0 16,634 39,597
Leasing HE 46,096 59,588
Transportation B - 983
Property management YEE R 14,583 8,404
Property leasing, subletting and others WMEHRE HMHELEAM 46,262 14,775
Total reportable segment liabilities AE2moHaEEs 123,575 123,347
Unallocated Ao 1,965 4,857
Consolidated total liabilities meaafERen 125,540 128,204
The segment liabilities is evaluated based on different reportable SHMEEBRBEIRAZ2HI A EEE
segment liabilities, which is a common measure of liabilities held TS WA TR Z®/ Y BAFE
by different reportable segments. The consolidated total liabilities BERNBAFE BRETRNEEELD
are allocated to different reportable segments which are measured MBARRAEMNEEARBIN 68
consistently with the Group’s liabilities except for the corporate BREIEZHAEEAE Hi 3
liabilities held by headquarter or inactive subsidiaries. TR E2HmDEL
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 —Z—_—F=/F=+—HItFE

11. FINANCE INCOME, NET 1. WA FEER
2022 2021
—EC-CF T —
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FET
Finance income UE 2PN
Finance income on finance lease Y& T E e WGRIE M B R IR
receivables 224 438
Interest income on bank deposits IRITIF A F BULA 308 396
Interest income on other receivables H i fE W GRIE ) F1 B IR A 2,826 1,596
3,358 2,430
Finance costs B 3 R A
Interest expense on bank loans RITEROF B (757) (939)
Interest expense on lease liabilities HMEa BN EFMEZ (MiE400b))
(note 40(0)) (533) (897)
(1,290) (1,836)
2,068 594
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Income tax has been recognised in profit or loss as follows:

Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax BVHARIIE — BAEFEN
Provision for the year FANEE

Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income Tax  ENEAFE T —h B> ¥ 1S H

Provision for the year F N
Under-provision in prior years BEFERENR
Deferred tax (note 34) EIERIA (K51 34)

For the year ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, under the two-
tiered profits tax regime, profits tax rate for the first HK$2 million of
assessable profits of qualifying corporations established in Hong
Kong will be lowered to 8.25%, and profits above that amount
will be subject to the tax rate of 16.5%. For the other Hong Kong
established subsidiaries, Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided
at a rate 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits.

ERNEEBRNAFEREAT

2022 2021
—E=-C —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’000
TET T T
5,684 2,584
23,917 15,511

- 2

23,917 15,513

(6,902) (76)
22,699 18,021

RBEZZS-_—_FR=-_FT=-—F=H
=+—HIEFE  BEFSHERARS -
£ BB KB & & 1% B & 2,000,000
BITHERBAEFNOFESHHEEET
F2Z=8.25% ' MR A % & XA i 7 Al 3%
16.5% MY B REF o phE AR BB L
MKBARME @ B3216.5% M X5
5T FE SR B AT IR BB R S R34 -



PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been provided at a rate of 25% PR EMEHE R 2% (Z T —F

(2021: 25%). 25%) TR EEGT IR B -
Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated H fth i & 8 SR FE B F R IR S T0 AR
at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries/regions in which BASENBRAREEMERR i
the Group’s subsidiaries operate, based on existing legislation, BB BMEEEAN - ZEEEM - R
interpretation and practices in respect thereof. HIRTHEFHE -
The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the P 45 % 7 2 B2 B B A& A1) e 3@ A A 2R
product of profit before tax multiplied by the applicable rate is as ZIRFEMEERLT ¢
follows:
2022 2021
—¥=-= —T-_—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHExT T T
Profit before tax B 5 i A 60,686 106,223
Tax at applicable tax rates in the LR ENEER A EAT RS
jurisdictions concerned BEHTIE 17,025 22,200
Tax effect of income that is not taxable HBEFRBRANREZE (1,448) (6,541)
Tax effect of expenses that are not AR AT NG E
deductible 5,391 3,514
Tax effect of temporary differences and tax R HERE B EE LR EEBH
losses not recognised M 1,572 1,459
Tax losses previously recognised and SCRIRERR R 1Bl Y B TR 5 18
reversed = (2,374)
Others H A, 159 (237)
Income tax expense TS m X2 22,699 18,021
The weighted average applicable tax rate was 28.1% (2021: 21%). MEFEHERAMER 281% (ZE=—

£F:21%) o



13. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &= —& — —

%?éé!ﬁ%i&%llﬁéi

F=A=1T—RHILFE

13. F WA

The Group’s profit for the year is stated after charging/(crediting)

AEENFRBENENSR, GEA) T

the following: HI| &8
2022 2021
2= T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Depreciation of property, plant and M BRERBRETE
equipment 61,111 39,561
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRELEETE 6,807 7,878
Gain on disposals of property, plantand ~ HEWE  BE MR BRI
equipment (7,486) (3,338)
Auditor’s remuneration ZERD BN & 1,593 1,718
- Audit service —HF IR 1,540 1,580
— Non-audit services — B R 53 138
Cost of inventories sold BEEFERA 37,299 29,982
Impairment losses on property, plantand  ¥1% - &= MR EREEIE
equipment - 326
Impairment loss on goodwil 8z REEE 61 -
Impairment losses on financial assets SREEREEE 4,302 1,863
Short term lease expenses HEEESRH 15,483 10,391

Note: Cost of sales and services includes depreciation of property,
plant and equipment, depreciation of right-of-use assets and
cost of inventories sold of approximately HK$103,664,000 (2021:

Mz SHE RIS ABIEDE  BE L&
ENE FRAEEENEREERE
X 7K 49103,664,00058 7T (=T = —

HK$75,665,000). & : 75,665,000 7T) ©
14. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES 14. BEEEAMX
2022 2021
—s=-= —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET
Employee benefits expenses (including EEBMAX (BIEESHH)
directors’ emoluments)
Salaries, bonuses and allowances -~ JEAT KRORRL 42,416 42,400
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 32 /R 18 F1l 5+ 21 7% 1,779 922
44,195 43,322
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 i Z == F=A=T—HIEFE

14. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (Continued)

Five highest paid individuals:

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year
included none of the (2021: none) director whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis presented in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements. The emoluments of the remaining five (2021:
five) individuals are set out below:

14. BERAB (&)

hE&EHMAL:

AEBRFANDARSIMALL
TEREEM(CE_—F BEF H
MERRE M EBRERM T 155K
DITFRR - ESRARAL(ZF =~
FABADNMEHINAT :

2022 2021
—_E_— —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TAT
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e fEAT MOREL 12,150 9,848
Retirement benefit scheme contributions R K%& Fl 51 21 =X 68 82
12,218 9,930

The emoluments fell within the following band: BN FLATEE :
2022 2021
—E_ —E-—F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 2 1,000,000 7T - 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7% 7T & 1,500,000 7% 7T - 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7% 7T 2 2,000,000 /& 7T 2 -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7 7T = 2,500,000 78 7T - 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7 T & 3,000,000 7 7T 2 2
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 & 7t & 3,500,000 78 7T 1 -

During the year, no amount was paid or payable by the Group
to the directors or any of the five highest paid individuals set out
above as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

RAFEE AEEYENRENE
XHHBEEHEANREESHMAL
Z R AR S| 1 % 0B S o0 B2
RER B 2 2R - S E DB 21 -
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(a) Directors' emoluments () EEME

The remuneration of every director is set out below: ZEEMHFME 0T

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-Z-_—_f=-A=+-HLEE

Retirement
benefit
Discretionary scheme
Fees bonuses contributions Total
BREA
e MIEFA TR st
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TERT THERT TERT
Name of director BEnE
Executive directors WITEE
Mr. Xu Chujia ARREE - - - -
Mr. Xu Chusheng (note (v)) TR A (PR V) 364 - - 364
Mr. Wu Hanyu (note (ii)) E02 B 4 (B3 Gi) - - = =
Mr. Cai Chun Fai BEREBLE 720 - 18 738
Mr. Li Yan Sang (note (iv)) FCELE (W) 119 - - 119
Mr. Zhao Yiyong (note (iv)) R B A (PEE(v) 119 - - 119
Mr. Wei Jinwen (note (vi)) E R E (R M) 303 - - 303
Non-executive director EHTES
Ms. Zhan Meiging EXERT 240 - - 240
Professor Lee Chack Fan, FleBHE
G.B.S,SBS., JP. G.BS,SBS, JP. 240 - - 240
Independent non-executive BAUENITES
directors
Mr. Wong Chun Man FEXRAE 240 - - 240
Mr. Hui Chin Tong Godfrey TRERAE 240 - - 240
Mr. Ye Longfei MEEEE A 240 - - 240
Mr. Ma Fung Kwok, BERLAE
G.B.S., S.BS., J.P. (note (iv)) GBS, sBS, JP. (fiEE (V) 119 - - 119

Total for 2022 T CFAG 2,944 - 18 2,962
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 —Z—_—F=/F=+—HItFE

15. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

() EEME (&)
EEEOFHBIIMT :

(a) Directors' emoluments (Continued)
The remuneration of every director is set out below:

For the year ended 31 March 2021
BE-Z-_—F-A-+—HILEE

Retirement
benefit
Discretionary scheme
Fees bonuses  contributions Total
RINER
ik B IEAL BES Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAHT FTAT TAET
Name of director B
Executive directors BiTES
Mr. Xu Chujia AFERELE - - - -
Mr. Wu Hanyu (note (ii)) SOEF 5o A& (BIE (i) 252 - - 252
Mr. Cai Chun Fai BiRBEE 720 - 18 738
Mr. Li Yan Sang (note (iv)) AR (FEE (V) 240 - - 240
Mr. Zhao Yiyong (note (iv)) iR B L E (V) 482 - - 482
Mr. Sze-to Kin Keung (note (i) RfEE £ (P i) 474 - - 474
Non-executive director FRTES
Ms. Zhan Meiqing EXRBLTL 240 - - 240
Professor Lee Chack Fan, FlERYE
GBS, SBS, JP. GBS, 8BS, JP. 240 - - 240
Independent non-executive directors B JEHITEE
Mr. Wong Chun Man FRXEE 240 - - 240
Mr. Hui Chin Tong Godfrey TFRERAE 240 - - 240
Mr. Ye Longfei MHEEEE A 240 - - 240
Mr. Zhang Guoliang (note (i) ok B R 50 A (FRE() 185 - - 185
Mr. Ma Fung Kwok, HERLELE
GBS, 8B, JP. (note (iv)) GBS, 888, JP. (FiFE(v) 240 - - 240
Total for 2021 —E-—F@ast 3,793 - 18 3,811
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e IR MIEE
For the year ended 31 March 2022 E{E == FZHA=T—HILFE
15. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 15. 55 M RER (E)
(Continued)
(a) Directors' emoluments (Continued) () EM € (8)
Notes: B &
0] Resigned on 7 January 2021. 0] RZE_—F—RAEREFE-
(i) Resigned on 9 March 2021. iy RKR=ZZE=_—F=ANLHBEHFT-
(i)  Resigned as executive director and chief executive of the Company iy MZZTEZ—FANAZ-+THLABEELR
on 29 September 2021. AIMITEFRITHRAH -
(v)  Resigned on 29 September 2021. vy RZZE_—FNA-thBEE-
(v Appointed as executive director and chief executive of the Company v RZZEZ—FNA-TNBEZAER
on 29 September 2021. AARBMITESZRITHEE -
(vi)  Appointed as executive director and executive vice president of the V) RZZEZ—FNA-TNBEZAER
Company on 29 September 2021. AARBMITESRITHRENBE -
Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors waived any REAMEZTBITHRABREIANES
emoluments during the year (2021: Nil). BEEAWES (ZZE=Z—F : ]|) -
(b) Directors' material interests in transactions, (b) EENXRE  THIHELN
arrangements or contracts Ejﬂ‘ﬁm
Other than those related party transactions and balances disclosed BREzFeR A M ISR M s 46 NPT 58
in note 45 to the consolidated financial statements, no significant K BEEE 5 R 5 KRR ANQ A&
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the 51 3 L Ath 7 6 R 3k 6 0 ] B B R
Group’s business to which the Company was a party and in which MARRESERESHEH TREFE
a director of the Company and the director’s connected party had o EERBEE AR RS EE
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the BEENEARS THEEEH(ZE
end of the year or at any time during the year (2021: Nil). Z—F 4E) o
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The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong.
The Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme are calculated at 5%
of the salaries and wages subject to a monthly maximum amount
of contribution of HK$1,500 per employee and vest fully with
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries established in the
PRC are members of a central pension scheme operated by the
local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to
contribute certain percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and wages to the central pension scheme to fund the retirement
benefits. The local municipal government undertakes to assume
the retirement benefits obligations of all existing and future retired
employees of these subsidiaries. The only obligation of this
subsidiary with respect to the central pension scheme is to meet
the required contributions under the Scheme.

The Group’s total contributions to these schemes charged to the
profit or loss during the year ended 31 March 2022 amounted to
approximately HK$1,779,000 (2021: HK$922,000) representing
contributions paid and payable by the Group to the schemes
at the appropriate rates set by the local government where the
subsidiaries operate.

No forfeited contribution under these schemes is available to
reduce the contribution payable in future years.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

AEECREBER(RHIEATR DS
REDORE REZBBEEAERE
BRVABHEAESFE ([RES
g AKERBEE B ZHRTS
NTERFEHNE%ATERBRERE
BREAEREE15008T  HR—
B ANRTE2RTE ESREES -

AEBETERIZHMBARIZES
B2EWRHTERFRIZPRERE
e - ZEMBARARREEBEARTE
REzEezEHETADLRTRENRESE
B MERRKEINES - R
MBAAGREREZENBARMA
Bk ARENER ZRABNEL -
ZMEARNF RERESF S 21—
BETIRIBZT IR EAAFHR -

HE_Z_—#=-A=1+—HILEFE"
REBREBREPNBRAZETEAR
2 HRBE A 1,779,000 T (= F
Z— % : 922,000/ 7T) * BIAS & EH %
MBARZEME Y EHBUTRE
ZEAEBRRZEEDHENRIER
i BEREREE o

% ERTEITR TR B R LB A A AE
B AR IREF E AR

EEVERIMBE_T__F=A4
St+—BLEFERMEMRE (=ZF
Z—F | o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e SRR MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 S EZ=—F==—F=A=+—HIFE
(=
18. EARNINGS PER SHARE 18. BIR & F|
The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on the EREARBF DIBBEATSIETE
following:
2022 2021
—==-= ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Earnings 27
Earnings for the purpose of calculating M EERERBFHEF
basic earnings per share (profit for (KRRHEB AEBRFERNRF)
the year attributable to owners of
the Company) 37,987 88,220
Number of shares RO E
Weighted average number of ordinary AT EFRERZF HE AN
shares for the purpose of calculating T
basic earnings per share 6,195,000,000 6,195,000,000
No diluted earnings per share are presented in 2022 and 2021 as BHRANAFF AR EEREBTESE
the Company did not have any dilutive potential ordinary shares ERMEBAR MR_T__Fk=
during the year. T —FWEZINGREERT o
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e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #E =T - —F = A=+—HIFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. 1% - BMERRE
Furniture,
Leasehold Equipment fixtures and Motor
improvements Machinery and tools equipment vehicles Total
RE EEsE
RENEEE - E RERIA k&f HE a3t

HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS000
TR TR TR TR TR TR

Cost HA
At1 April 2020 RZ2-2ERA-H 3,067 308,006 32,626 3,635 5,160 347,499
Transfer fom right-of-use assets (ote 1)~ BAEFREEE (1) - - - - 12,139 12,139
Transfer to ight-of-use assefs (note 21) ERspRELE () - (445) - - - (.445)
Addtions HE - 40432 21,594 - 800 62,826
Disposals hE - (20,103) (3832) ? (3,628) (27,569)
Exchange diferences EizE - 1218 3322 40 - 4580
At 31 March 2021 and 1 Aprl 2021 RZFZ-F=A=+-8R

“E--EmA-A 3,067 322,108 53,710 3,673 14,476 397,034
Acauired through business combinafion BREHBANNE - 545 4,698 - - 5,243
Trnsfer fom ight-otuse assets ote 21)  HEBEREEE (1) - - - - 2075 2075
Additions HE - 12,743 12,623 - - 25,366
Disposals e - (5,939 (30,959) (533) (8,763) (45,794)
Exchange differences EXZE - 94 6,518 - - 7459
At 31 March 2022 R-E-"E=F=1-H 3,067 330,398 46,990 3,140 1,188 391,383
Accumulated depreciation and impairment E3HFERH(E
At1 April 2020 RZE-FERA-H 1670 113,706 3639 2511 3,13 125,306
Trnsfer fom ight-ofuse assets ote 21)  HEBEREEE (W21 - - - - 10,232 10,232
Transfer to right-use-assets (note 21) ERBERRLE (W) - () - - - )
Charge for the year ERREY 1022 28809 8,946 260 519 39,561
Impaiment for the year EMEE - 32 - - - 3%
Disposals hE - (15,904) (941) - (3,591) 20,430)
Exchange differences EiZE - 169 563 16 - 748
At31 arch 2021 and 1 Api 2021 R-F--FZf=1+-AR

“E--EMA-A 2,692 127,065 12,207 2,858 10,873 155,695
Transfer from right-use-assets (note 21) ERapRELE () - - - - 2075 2075
Charge for the year ERRY 361 48,863 11,162 118 607 61,111
Disposdls te - (1,097) (12871 (07 8170) 245
Exchange differences EXZE - 199 2,100 - - 2299
A3 Vch 202 S B 1T 1258 2680 585 1875
Carrying amount REE
At 31 March 2022 W-EZZFZf=1+-R 14 155,368 34,302 47 2,403 192,648
At 31 March 2021 KRB -E=F=1-H 315 195,043 41503 815 3,003 241339
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R B ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 HiE —E - —F=A=+—HIFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

At 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment pledged as security for the Group’s bank borrowings
amounted to HK$20,663,000 (2021: HK$31,502,000).

20. CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS

19. 1% - BEN&E (&)

M-_BE-_—F=A=+—8 2EFR
EASERITERERODE  BE
Ko 5% 5 2 B ™ & 4 20,663,000 8 7T (=
T~ —4 : 31,502,000 7T) °

20. £ T

HK$'000
FHET

Cost 2%
At 1 April 2020 RZZE-ZTFNA—H 37,339
Additions NE 4,904
Disposals & (44,115)
Exchange differences MEHZR 1,872

At 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021
and 31 March 2022

R-ZE-_—F=HA=+—8-
—E-—FMHA—AK
—E-_F=H=+—H -

Accumulated impairment
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021,
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022

RITRE

RZE-_TFMWA—H

—E-—f¢=/8=+—8"

T -FMA—HK

—E-—F=ZA=+—H -

Carrying amount
At 31 March 2022

AR B

RZEBE-_—_F=A=+—H -

At 31 March 2021

R-E-—F=H=+—H -

The Group’s construction in progress comprises leasehold

improvement of shopping mall stores.

KBEMEZRERAA ¢ —T - —FFRF
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 —Z—_—F=/F=+—HItFE
21. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 21. EREEE
Leased
machinery
Property Leased and motor
usage rights properties vehicles Total
HERBER
YMEERE HEWX A= @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT TET FET
At 1 April 2020 RZZEZZEFWA—H 62,396 8,069 21,768 92,233
Additions NE - - 11,513 11,513
Depreciation nE 412) (1,950) (5,516) (7,878)
Disposal of subsidiaries i & M B A 7 (P FE43(0))

(note 43(b)) (61,581) - - (61,581)
Lease termination MELIE - (4,097) - (4,097)
Transfer from property, plantand BB AWE - BE KR E

equipment (note 19) (PitE19) - - 2,404 2,404
Transfer to property, plant and BREDE  FHELEE

equipment (note 19) (Fi7E19) - - (1,907) (1,907)
Exchange differences [EN =8 (403) 219 - (184)
At 31 March 2021 and R-_ZE-_—%=A

1 April 2021 =t-HRZZE=—F%

mA—A - 2,241 28,262 30,503
Depreciation e - (1,454) (5,353) (6,807)
At 31 March 2022 RZZBZZF=R

=+—A - 787 22,909 23,696
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Lease liabilities of HK$7,678,000 (2021: HK$22,267,000) are
recognised with related right-of-use assets of HK$23,696,000 as
at 31 March 2022 (2021: HK$30,503,000). The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in
the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may
not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Depreciation expenses on right-of-use
assets

Interest expense on lease liabilities
(including in finance cost) (note 11) R ) (FiTEE11)

Expenses relating to short-term lease
(included in cost of sales and services
or administrative expenses)

COVID-19 Related Rent concessions

received

Details of total cash outflow for leases is set out in note 40(c).

The Group has early adopted the Amendment to HKFRS 16:
COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions, and applied the practical
expedient to all eligible rent concessions received by the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2021.

For both years, the Group leases machinery and motor vehicles
and properties for its operations and rentals. Lease contracts
are entered into for fixed term of one to five years (2021: one
to five years). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract
and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

ERREEZHERX

ERHEMAEEESES

R-ZE-_—_F=ZA=+—H BEHR
HEBE7,678,0008 L (ZF = —
% : 22,267,000/ 7T) - H A F A
& E 28,696,000/ L (ZF = —4F -
30,503,000/ 7T) ° Br tHHH A FF B Y
EEEFHERERZI BERBZIL
BHENEANRE HELEETBRAE
BEER -

MERE 2N B GtARK

B MHEAREZMAX (Gt AH
ERRIRARITERFA)

2022 2021
—s== —TE - —4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
6,807 7,878

533 897

15,483 10,391
= (1,202)

HERSRHBABZFBENME

AEBERPRATEMHHRS LR
F£165% (BETA) : ¥ E bb X 48 B A
EEE WECRBE_FT_—F=5
=t —BLEFEHEARERERNMAA
FERHEHSEBRAAITEEN X -

RMEFE  AEEHE#SE  "TER
MENRELERHEZR -HES
HWEZBEEHR-—NAFE (T - —F:
—HRF)FTZ HERDRMERE%E
B - E B B2 R T R R & o
7 10 5 H AT 04 1 AT JBEH A T e B
KR AKESEAEHONTESE  LE
FE R BIBITR S A M -



HK$’000

TAT
Cost 2%
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, RZE-FFHNA—HB - —_ZE-—F=A
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 =+—HB -ZZE-_—FWA—HBK
- —_FZA=Z+—H 61
Accumulated impairment losses R REEE
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, RZE-_TFMHA—H
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 —E-—49=ZA=+—8"
—E-—FMWA—BK
T _H=HA=+—H -
Impairment loss BEEE 61
At 31 March 2022 RZEBEZ—_F=A=+—H 61
Carrying amount SREE
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZF=RA=+—H -
At 31 March 2021 R-ZE-—4F=ZA=+—H 61

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group acquired a
business at a consideration of approximately HK$70,000. The
estimated recoverable amount is determined based on value-
in-use calculation. These calculations use post-tax cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a one-year period. Cash flows beyond the one-year
period are extrapolated using a zero revenue growth rate per
annum. Discount rate of 8% per annum is used in the calculation.
The key assumptions have been determined by the Group’s
management based on past performance and its expectations
for the industry development. During the year ended 31 March
2022, since the Group terminated its development plan of the
business, the goodwill allocated to this CGU of HK$61,000 was
fully impaired to reduce the carrying amount of the CGU to its
recoverable amount of HK$ nil.

HE_Z-NEZA=+—HBLEE"
N B BA#) 70,0008 70 2 KB U EE —
TBEER o [FT AT U B & B8 I AR B A
BEFERETE ZIFECAERE
EEMAERE —FHNMBBEENS
BESHKREEN - —FHEZRESR
EUBFTRABRRETHES -5
HRERTFRSBMMRE - T ER
BROHAEASBEEEERBERATRIAR
HUT¥RENTEREE -B#E2=_F
—HF=ZA=Z+—BHULFE BRRK
SERIEEEBRERTE  2REZ
ReEEBUNEEE0008TE R
FRE FREELEMNEDER
LEHAKREISET AT -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 E{E == FZHA=T—HILFE
N — — .
23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 23. RMIE A RNKRE

Place of

incorporation/

establishmentand  Issued capital/ Percentage of Principal
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital ownership interest activities

FRMAL/ KL BRTER/
WEARER REEHH dHEE EERZEAN TEED

Direct Indirect
B &

Jubilee Land Holdings Limited BVI Uss$2 100% - Investment holding
Jubilee Land Holdings Limited EBRELRE 2ET 100% - REER
Red Day Global Limited BVI US$2 100% - Investment holding
Red Day Global Limited EBRTES 2%TT 100% - REER
Jovial Lead Global Limited BVI Us$2 100% - Investment holding
Jovial Lead Global Limited RERNHE 2ETL 100% - REBRK
Otimus Investment Limited BVI HK$1 100% - Investment holding
Otimus Investment Limited EBREAHE 1B 100% - RERRK
Barson Investment Limited BVI HK$1 100% - Investment holding
Barson Investment Limited EBRELHS 1B 100% - RERR
Baseway Investment Limited BVI HK$1 100% - Investment holding
Baseway Investment Limited EEERES 17T 100% - REER
Farman Investment Limited BVI HK$1 100% - Investment holding
Farman Investment Limited RERNES BT 100% - RERRK
Kingwide Resources Limited BVI HK$1 100% - Investment holding
Kingwide Resources Limited REBRLES BT 100% - REER
Yoma Investment Limited BVI HKS1 100% - Investment holding
Yoma Investment Limited RBRLES 187 100% - REBRRK
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 B2 —Z—_—F=/F=+—HItFE

23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 23. RHiIB A TIMIRE (&)

Place of
incorporation/
establishmentand  Issued capital/ Percentage of Principal
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital ownership interest activities
FRMAL/ KL BRTER/
WEARER REEHH A EERZEANL TEED
Direct Indirect
B B
Blooming Art Holdings Ltd. BVI US$50,000 100% - Investment holding
Blooming Art Holdings Ltd. EBRLRE 50,000%